Appendix 12. Minutes of Tax Expenditure Commission's meetings

Tax Expenditure Commission – Initial Meeting State House – Room 157 October 12, 2011

#### Members in Attendance

Jay Gonzalez, Secretary of Administration & Finance, Chair of Tax Expenditure Commission Rep. Jay Kaufman, Chair of House Revenue Committee Sen. Stephen Brewer, Chair of Senate Ways and Means Committee Rep. Brian Dempsey, Chair of House Ways and Means Committee Rep. Steven Levy, Designee of House Minority Leader Bradley Jones Alan Clayton-Matthews, Member of Governor's Council of Economic Advisors James Stock, Member of Governor's Council of Economic Advisors Al Gordon, Designee of Treasurer Steven Grossman Laura Marlin, Designee of Auditor Suzanne Bump

### Minutes

Secretary Gonzalez: Welcome to the first meeting of the Tax Expenditure Commission. I want to first thank everyone for being here. I would like to go around the table and have the members of the Commission introduce themselves.

(Members of the Commission each said their name and professional title.)

Secretary Gonzalez: I would now like to have David Sullivan, the General Counsel of Administration & Finance, provide an overview of the Open Meeting Law, which governs the meetings of this Commission.

(David Sullivan provided a brief overview of the requirements of the Open Meeting Law, distributed the required materials to all of the Commission members, and obtained signed Certificates of Receipt from all members present.)

Secretary Gonzalez: Tax expenditures are a way of spending taxpayer money. Tax expenditures in the Commonwealth equal roughly \$24B, which is more than total amount of tax revenue that we collect. If we were to eliminate every tax expenditure, we could lower the tax rates accordingly, income tax to 3.7% from 5.3%, sales tax to 1.4% from 6.25%, and the corporate tax to 5.0% from 8.0%, all while remaining revenue neutral. That gives you a sense of how significant these tax expenditures are.

I also want to point out that progress has been made over last few years. This Administration has an excellent track record in this regard. For example, this Administration has introduced a competitive process for receiving tax credits in the Life Sciences industry that includes aggressive clawback mechanisms if companies receiving those credits do not live up to their promised investments. In addition, last year Governor Patrick and the Legislature enacted legislation to increase transparency of ten specific refundable or transferable tax credit programs by making information about award recipients and amounts of awards available to the public on the web. Finally, the 2012 budget proposed by the Governor and passed by the Legislature creates a new Office of Commonwealth Performance, Accountability, and Transparency, whose

task it is to move the Commonwealth towards performance management. These are all positive steps, but there is certainly more that we can do. And, this Commission will help in that endeavor.

The tax expenditure budget has never been thoroughly and comprehensively reviewed by the Commonwealth. The tax expenditure system represents years and years of ad hoc decisions. There is no real, comprehensive rationale holding all the tax expenditures together. One goal of this Commission should be to start from the understanding that no tax expenditures are sacrosanct, in essence start from scratch. Some questions that this Commission should consider are: What is an appropriate purpose for using a tax expenditure for achieving certain goals and objectives? What are the right criteria to decide what is an appropriate use? What are the objectives of the entire tax expenditure system? How do we measure the success of individual tax expenditures, and whether or not they are accomplishing those goals? We need to take a fresh, comprehensive, and bold look at this system. We've got a group of smart, insightful people to do this. I'm optimistic about our ability to develop thoughtful policy recommendations for the Commonwealth.

I should also say that the Tax Expenditure Commission is not charged with deciding how any new revenues obtained through the possible elimination of any tax expenditures would be spent. Our goal is to develop a rationale regarding the tax expenditure budget. How do we make it more efficient and effective to be sure that we are stretching every taxpayer dollar as far as possible. Furthermore, the Governor has said that simplifying the tax code, in and of itself, is one of his goals. Right now, the tax code is too complicated. This discussion about tax expenditures will certainly be part of that solution as well.

That was an overview of the charge of this Commission. I would now like to get your thoughts and reactions.

Rep. Jay Kaufman: I agree that the tax expenditure system is a collection of ad hoc decisions, which are not collectively justifiable. I would also like to say that the creation of the Tax Expenditure Commission is very exciting. Like Secretary Gonzales said, this Administration has made some progress, but there is more to do. One question that I think we should ask is, What is rational public policy in regards to tax expenditures? I think it's safe to say that no other State has looked at this, and the federal government is grappling with this issue, too.

In addition to the Secretary's goals, I have two more to add. First, I think we should establish some quantifiable goal for a reduction in scale of the tax expenditure budget, whether it be an amount by which we want to reduce tax expenditures or a goal for the percentage of state tax revenue that tax expenditures should comprise. Some long-term goal or range is necessary. Second, I think we must make this Commission as public as possible. We are going to have to make some very difficult choices. Each tax expenditure has a constituency, and there will be political consequences to eliminating any of them.

Sen. Stephen Brewer: It's very true that many things in the tax code were pushed by specific individuals in a specific time. And, we haven't looked at tax credits or tax codes in a long time. However, there is a sense that we can do this. This is possible. We have made incredible strides in the past few years. But, we must also be realistic. Whatever we recommend has to be able to get the votes. The tax code should be kept in line with the changing times, with the technological

world that we live in. And, tax expenditures need a review from time to time. We must also keep in mind that some of them are very, very important. Not taxing food or clothing, for example. What we should strive for are reforms that are good for taxpayers, good for government, and good enough to get 81 votes in House. This is not about slogans; it's about real change. Let's get to it.

Rep. Brian Dempsey: Our goal should be to look at "ROI" for these credits. We need a deep assessment of what we're actually getting in return for these tax expenditures. It's a daunting task. But, we must do it to make structural change in challenging times.

Al Gordon: Nobody set out to create \$24B in tax expenditures. The tax expenditures represent a host of ad hoc decisions. We have a very different economy today, and we must take a look at tax expenditures with that in mind.

Laura Marlin: The Auditor Suzanne Bump is most interested in bringing accountability to the entire system. We must have clearly identified goals and regular reviews of the effectiveness of this endeavor.

Rep. Steven Levy: I fully embrace the charge of the Tax Expenditure Commission. However, we should keep in mind that tax expenditures were put in place to address the shortcomings of the tax code itself. We have to keep in mind the effects that elimination of certain tax expenditures would have on people.

Jim Stock: I am really impressed with the House, Senate, and Governor's Administration in their efforts to create more efficient government. This Commission is just another step forward. I am very encouraged that you have invited people with more academic backgrounds into the process. Academic ideas will only help this process. I am very excited about the open-mindedness of process.

Alan Clayton-Matthews: I am less certain that we can actually recommend large reductions in tax expenditures. I think we should focus on creating a way to evaluate tax expenditures. I feel this way because many of these tax expenditures are the results of political decisions. We can focus on arguments for various tax expenditures, like efficiency. We should also focus on the allocation of resources, as well as redistribution and fairness. But, those topics, too, are subject to political considerations. I think we can do a lot to set a framework for evaluation, but we have to be realistic in the amount of recommendations in cuts of tax expenditures that we can actually propose.

Secretary Gonzalez: Thank you, everyone, for your thoughts. I want to thank Jim (Stock) and Alan (Clayton-Matthews), particularly, for agreeing to be on the Commission. They will bring their expertise.

Now, I want to turn it over to the new Commissioner of the Department of Revenue, Amy Pitter. She will provide a very high-level review of tax expenditures. Then, we will follow with a discussion of what information we would like DOR to gather to help the Commission in its efforts.

(Commissioner Pitter provided a high-level overview of the tax code and tax expenditures. Please see attached presentation document for more detailed information.) Secretary Gonzalez: Thank you, Commissioner. Now, we should discuss what information we feel would be helpful for the Commission? Here are some preliminary thoughts that I had. We should have: 1) a list of all tax expenditures in the tax code 2) a description of the history or genesis for each tax expenditure. What were the goals or objectives of each when they were created? 3) a description of the intended beneficiaries of each expenditure, and how are they intended to benefit? We should also have some information about the quantitative implications on those beneficiaries if a particular tax expenditure were eliminated. 4) a description of the revenue impact of each tax expenditure on the budget 5) a comparison between our tax expenditures and those of other States and the Federal government 6) a description of how the ratio oftax expenditures to revenue in Massachusetts compares to that of other States and 7) descriptions of "accountability" best practices in other States and the Federal government in regards to tax expenditure budgets.

Rep. Dempsey: We should also have an account of what the tax credits have produced in terms of development, jobs, revenue, economic stimulation, etc.

Al Gordon: It would be great to have trend lines and time lines, represented in graphical terms, of information regarding the implementation of different policy decisions, for example, sunset provisions.

Representative Denise Andrews (from the audience): In addition to exploring what other States and the Federal government are doing, we should also explore what other countries are doing. Some are more progressive than us.

Secretary Gonzalez: Thank you for your thoughts. My assistant, Julissa Tavarez, will coordinate schedules for the next meeting. My goal is to meet every three weeks. We will try to get the materials from DOR before that next meeting. I would like to strive for building a consensus amongst ourselves regarding the adoption of general principles by December. Our ultimate goal is to complete our work in April of 2012. Are there any other questions?

Alan Clayton-Matthews: How will we get the information that DOR will be compiling?

Secretary Gonzalez: I will ask that DOR pass the information along as it becomes available, rather than waiting until they have compiled all of it. I must confess that I have no complete sense of how much work this will be for DOR. But, I know it will be an all-hands-on-deck effort.

Sen. Stephen Brewer: I also think that it's important in terms of messaging that we are not trying to increase tax burdens on citizens. This is more about looking at the history of tax expenditures. And, we need to be thinking well into the future.

Secretary Gonzalez: As was mentioned, many decisions to implement tax expenditures were made in a different economic time and reality. We need to develop a rationale for tax expenditures that we keep for this new economic world so that we can ensure that we are stretching every taxpayer dollar as far as possible.

Thank you! We are adjourned.

Tax Expenditure Commission – Second Meeting Comptroller's Office November 2, 2011

<u>Members in Attendance</u> Jay Gonzalez, Secretary of Administration & Finance, Chair of Tax Expenditure Commission Alan Clayton-Matthews, Member of Governor's Council of Economic Advisors Jim Stock, Member of Governor's Council of Economic Advisors Al Gordon, Designee of Treasurer Steven Grossman Suzanne Bump, Auditor Staff Members representing Sen. Stephen Brewer, Rep. Jay Kaufman, Rep. Brian Dempsey, Rep. Steven Levy, and Sen. Gale Canderas

<u>Others in Attendance</u> Amy Pitter – Commissioner of Revenue Kazim Ozyurt – Acting Director, Office of Tax Policy Analysis

Note: Any statements made by Amy Pitter or Kazim Ozyurt have been attributed to DOR.

### **Minutes**

Secretary Gonzalez: Thanks everyone for being here. Both the House and Senate are in formal session today, so many of the legislators on the Commission are not here today, but we do have many staff here representing them. As a first order of business, I would like to ask if there is a motion to accept the minutes of our last meeting.

Al Gordon: I so move.

The motion was seconded, and the minutes were accepted by a unanimous vote.

Secretary Gonzalez: At our last meeting, we charged the Department of Revenue with gathering a lot of data that we thought would be helpful for our work, and I have asked them to walk us through what they have accomplished so far. They have done a lot of work, but there is a lot left to do. All of the data that they have gathered so far is available on DOR's website, accessible by everyone here, but also by the public. And, DOR will continue to post additional information as it becomes available. After DOR walks us through its progress, the Commission members will be able to ask questions about what's remaining or about what this data actually means. We will then start a discussion about the general principles that will guide this Commission with the hopes that by next month we will have a draft of those principles. With that, I will turn it over to the Commissioner of Revenue Amy Pitter.

DOR: Thank you, Mr. Secretary. As Secretary Gonzalez was saying, we have set up a website as a depository for this information. It's a living page, so we are going to be updating it very frequently as new information becomes available. For now, we are just going to walk you through what's currently available.

If you take a look at the roadmap that we've provided, the first thing of note is the list of every tax expenditure in the Tax Expenditure Budget. We'vealso created a database that you can search easily. It includes information for each expenditure, such as the value in foregone

revenue of each expenditure, the statutory authority for each, the typical beneficiaries, et cetera. We're going to continue developing this database as more information becomes available.

Suzanne Bump: How will you categorize the typical beneficiaryof each expenditure?

DOR: That's a good question. We will have to develop this as we go along based on institutional knowledge, reading legislation to try to uncover the original purpose of the expenditure, et cetera. As we do this, we will try to be as objective as possible.

Secretary Gonzalez: This is a key issue. And this is an area where DOR has much more work to do. Now, while we have made progress in reporting the expenditures and publishing the Tax Expenditure Budget, they are often categorized in ways that are unhelpful for policy makers. I am hoping that this Commission, with DOR's help, can strategize about how to best characterize these expenditures.

DOR: One important category to note is the non-taxation items. There is some disagreement about whether these should be labeled tax expenditures.

Secretary Gonzalez: The best example of that is the exclusion of the sales tax on services. That has been categorized by DOR as a tax expenditure. However, some people feel that it shouldn't be a tax expenditure, and there is an important conversation there. Another goal I have for this Commission is to agree on a definition of what constitutes a tax expenditure. That will help us as we move forward.

DOR: We have also gathered some information about how our tax expenditure budget compares with those of other states. We determined early that it would not be helpful to look in depth at every state, so we looked first only at those states that publish their tax expenditure budgets. We then narrowed it down to the most helpful states, those that are most like Massachusetts in a few key ways. Looking at every single state would be too resource intensive.

Secretary Gonzalez: However, if people think we should dig a layer deeper, we can do that.

Jim Stock: There is also a problem in that the states report their tax expenditure budgets differently. Some, like Delaware, don't have a sales tax, so the ratio of tax expenditures to revenue is not entirely comparable with ours.

DOR: This is a very high-level look, so we have to keep that in mind when using this data.

Al Gordon: What if the ratios were broken out by sales vs. income tax? That might get us a little closer to being able to compare across states.

Secretary Gonzalez: Maybe we could look at states that have similar tax systems and compare Massachusetts to those.

Jim Stock: I agree with Al's suggestion.

Al Gordon: We should also look at states that are competitive with Massachusetts in some ways. For instance, North Carolina would be a good example because a business looking to locate somewhere might compare Massachusetts to North Carolina in deciding where to locate. DOR: The states that we have chosen so far are CA, CT, MI, NY, NC, OH, RI, TX, VA, WA.

At the last meeting, there was a request for some data regarding accountability best practices in other states. For example, the use of clawbacks or sunset provisions. We have done a survey of the literature and provided the literature on the website. But our next step is to go through it ourselves and summarize it.

Someone also asked for comparisons with other countries. We have provided some literature on this topic, but we are not going to perform in an in-depth analysis of this information ourselves. But, it is available on the site.

We've also compiled some literature regarding the relative effectiveness of different types of tax expenditure tools, such as tax credits, deductions, or even non-taxation, at accomplishing certain types of objectives. We have identified and compiled the literature, and now we must go through it and summarize.

Suzanne Bump: I have a suggestion. Could we somehow keep track of when this page is updated, so that we can be sure to use the most recent information?

DOR: Yes, we can probably set up a notification system by which you receive an email every time a change is made to the page.

We were also asked to compile a historical account of each tax expenditure. This involves sifting through the legislation and legislative histories of each expenditure, which is a daunting task. At this point, we have identified the statutory references, including amendments, and have also indicated where a certain expenditure is based on the federal Internal Revenue Code.

Jim Stock: Will it be clear which expenditures are adopted from the federal tax code and which are homegrown?

DOR: Yes.

Jim Stock: That is an important discussion because those two types may receive different levels of scrutiny.

DOR: We're also going to look much more deeply at the 10 states identified earlier. What do they do that we are not doing, and vice versa?

Jim Stock: We should also consider not just whether it comes from federal tax code, but also how it interacts with the federal tax code. Is something federally deductible or not? For example, if you reversed a particular tax expenditure, what would be the effect with tax deductibles at the federal level?

Secretary Gonzalez: Right. So you want to explore if there is a partial offsetting benefit, at the federal level, to getting rid of a tax expenditure?

Jim Stock: Yes. For example, if you got rid of a tax expenditure worth \$100, there may be a \$30 offsetting benefit at the federal level, so the state keeps \$100, but your personal tax burden would only rise by \$70. We should take this into account when we are looking at all of our expenditures.

DOR: We are also trying to compile a clear statement of goals and objectives that drove each tax expenditure when it was adopted. Again, we have totry to read the legislation neutrally to see if we're able to come up with a clear statement. Some of this should become available by the end of next week.

Secretary Gonzalez: For example, if the goals are specifically stated in the statute, like for the Life Sciences tax credits, we should note that.

Al Gordon: What if a purpose has changed? I could imagine this to be the case for a few of them.

DOR: It was also suggested at our first meeting that DOR should try to produce an account of what each tax expenditure has achieved in the way of job creation, revenues, et cetera. This may take some time and integration with other agencies, but we will work on this.

Secretary Gonzalez: We should also keep in mind that some tax expenditures were not meant to create something, but to help someone. Maybe what we are really looking for is data regarding whether the tax expenditure is furthering the objectives that it was created to further.

Suzanne Bump: I agree. Also, on some, like the film tax credit, there is a lack of agreement about how many jobs it has created. How are going to resolve those disputes?

Alan Clayton-Matthews: On many of these, there will be disagreements about how successful they have been. So, perhaps we can agree on some standards for measurements. That would be very useful.

Jim Stock: Things like jobs created ordollars brought into this state.

Secretary Gonzalez: Based on this discussion, maybe DOR should focus on developing any information at all about goals and objectives and hold off on whether or not we are furthering those goals and objectives.

Alan Clayton-Matthews: It would be useful if they were able to identify studies that estimated the number of jobs created, if they are easy to get. That would be useful.

Jim Stock: We will need some quantitative measures, either dollars spent or jobs created.

Secretary Gonzalez: DOR should compile that.

DOR: We have to say that we were a little confused by this last request for graphical trendlines or something to that effect.

Al Gordon: That was my request. It's basically just that we have some visual depictions of the data that you are collecting in your database, such as the value of the tax expenditures over time.

Secretary Gonzalez: Knowing the change in value over time may help us understand what's going on behind it.

Suzanne Bump: One more dimension that would be helpful in interpreting a chart like that would be the number of beneficiaries of each expenditure because the change won't say much without knowing how many people it affects.

Secretary Gonzalez: Is there any more information that we need? Thank you, Commissioner Pitter and Kazim.

We have about 15 minutes left, and I would like to at least begin a conversation about the overarching, general principles that should be guiding our work as we strive to fulfill our statutory charge. Having clear objectives will only help us.

One of my goals is that I want us to take a big step back, and start from the ground up. I want to really think about the ways in which we are using our tax expenditure budget and ask "when shouldwe be using this form of taxpayer spending?"We should also strive to have clear data showing whether tax expenditures are furthering their objectives. In addition, transparency in this process is very important.

As we begin to think about our guiding principles, I want to keep this part of the discussion very high level for now. For example, is there some consensus around whether there should be enforcement mechanisms in our tax expenditures, like clawback provisions, or should there be a regular review of our tax expenditure budget? How should we think about what our tax expenditure budget should be? How we should manage it, and what should we use it for?

Suzanne Bump: I just want to clarify, are your goals exclusively around the tax expenditure budget or are we thinking about the goals of the overall tax code? There are all kinds of value that we can bring to the tax code. Or is it only related to tax expenditures?

Secretary Gonzalez: Well, you are right that they are certainly linked. But, our specific charge is related to the tax expenditure budget. One reason for that is that it is a whole area of spending which we have never examined in a systematic and intentional way, and for which there is no overarching rationale. The Tax Expenditure Commission is charged with looking at the tax expenditure budget and providing recommendations.

Suzanne Bump: Perhaps the more realistic goalis to focus on standards for the tax expenditure budget rather than making policy recommendations about the values we want our tax code to achieve.

Al Gordon: However, there might be some policy objectives that are not so political as to be outside the scope of this Commission. For instance, growing the economy might be a big picture goal. Everyone would likely agree with that.

Alan Clayton-Matthews: To the extent feasible, we should also apply a cost-efficiency test to every tax expenditure. This goal is not that political. We should also look at the original objective of each expenditure and see if there is a better way to accomplish that goal than through the tax expenditure. If so, we should do it in that better way. In other words, is there some other way to further a specific goal than through the tax expenditure? For example, one alternative may be not having the tax expenditure at all.

Brendan Grealey (representingRep. Jay Kaufman): One thing that I know that the Chairman was hoping would come out of this process is a commitment to look at the tax expenditure budget on a regular basis, maybe every three years or so.

Secretary Gonzalez: That relates to the high level of transparency around the tax expenditure budget. This is the firsttime that this has been done, and that is great. But this Commission should continue to further that goal.

Jim Stock: At the federal level, it's simpler because there is a large participation rate. Much can be achieved by base broadening. However for Massachusetts, it's much more complicated because we are just a small player. Unlike the federal government, we have the risk of exporting jobs to other states. We must also undertake a stringent cost-benefit analysis. We have to realize that the actual costs may be higher than value of the individual tax expenditure.

Secretary Gonzalez: This is a helpful conversation. In preparation for the next meeting, we will try to synthesize this conversation and get something toyou beforehand, so that we will have a starting point for the next phase of this discussion. Our next goal will be to have a more in depth discussion of principles. Maybe we will also consider at our next meeting how DOR has defined tax expenditures for our purposes.

I will ask my assistant to keep in mind legislative calendars so that legislators can attend the next meeting.

If there is nothing else, we are adjourned.

Tax Expenditure Commission – Third Meeting Comptroller's Office December 7, 2011

#### Members in Attendance

Jay Gonzalez, Secretary of Administration & Finance, Chair of Tax Expenditure Commission Alan Clayton-Matthews, Member of Governor's Council of Economic Advisors Jim Stock, Member of Governor's Council of Economic Advisers Rep. Steven Levy, Designee of House Minority Leader Bradley Jones Suzanne Bump, Auditor Marita Callahan, Designee of Rep. Brian Dempsey, Chair of House Ways and Means Committee Jennifer Saubermann, Designee of Sen. Stephen Brewer, Chair of Senate Ways and Means Committee Rep. Jay Kaufman, Chair of House Revenue Committee Al Gordon, Designee of Treasurer Steven Grossman Staff Members representing Senator Gale Candaras and Senator Michael Knapik

<u>Others in Attendance</u> Amy Pitter, Commissioner of Revenue Kazim Ozyurt, Acting Director, Office of Tax Policy Analysis David Sullivan, General Counsel, Executive Office for Administration & Finance Kevin Brown, General Counsel, Department of Revenue

Note: Any statements made by Commissioner Pitter or Kazim Ozyurt have been attributed to DOR.

### **Minutes**

David Sullivan: Good morning everyone. I know you probably weren't expecting me to start things off, but since Sec. Gonzalez is going to be a little late we are going to go ahead and begin. Why don't we start by going around the table and noting everyone here today.

(Members of the Commission and designees give their names.)

David Sullivan: Our agenda today is threefold. First, we're going to hear a data update from DOR regarding various requests from our previous meeting. Then, we will discuss the definition of a tax expenditure, and finally we will resume the discussion of our principles relating to tax expenditures mentioned in the last meeting. Is there a motion to approve the minutes from our last meeting?

A motion was made and seconded, and the minutes were accepted by a unanimous vote.

David Sullivan: So with no further ado, I will turn this over to DOR for their report.

Commissioner Pitter: I think that Kazim will give updates on the previous requests, and then I'll discuss the definitions.

Kazim Ozyurt: After working on the requests for data from the last meeting, most of the requested work has been done. Some areas were easy, others require some progress and others require further review, but we wanted to share with you what we have so far. We have identified certain areas about which information was requested. I'd also like to point out that this information is currently being updated on our website. We had a glitch yesterday and were unable to post it, but it should be up shortly. I can also email this for easier sharing.

DOR areas and brief overview of discussion with regard to each:

- 1) Ensuring that materials are posted with an "updated as of" date.
- 2) Categorizing whether a particular tax expenditure is based on Massachusetts General Laws or the Internal Revenue Code.
- 3) Creating an expenditure per capita basis and comparing it with other states.
- 4) Inserting a category indicating whether current beneficiaries of tax expenditure items would face offsetting tax effects with expenditure elimination.
- 5) Creating a historical account of Massachusetts tax expenditures. There are currently charts demonstrating various amounts that will be adapted to reflect major case law changes within the historical timeline.
- 6) Inserting a category of the goals of certain tax expenditures as indicated by statute. It seems few statutes actually include specifically identified goals, however the title of most statutes still provides a reasonable explanation.
- 7) Inserting categories indicating whether or not a particular tax expenditure requires approval, and if so, approval by whom; whether it includesclawback provisions; and whether it includes sunset provisions.
- 8) Generating an account of what certain tax credits have created in terms of jobs, revenue, etc. This is currently in progress but may require extensive studies in order to complete.
- 9) Introducing a category that indicates not only a tax expenditure's amount but also its budget function with regard to its beneficiaries and a brief description of those identified beneficiaries.

Following DOR's presentation:

Alan Clayton-Matthews: I have a question. When you say estimated beneficiary count, is this a number of companies or a total number of beneficiaries? It seems that you mean, for example, forty is forty tax filers?

DOR: Yes, this is what we mean when we say beneficiaries, but again this will all be doublechecked. We have other categories like this, for example most of the legal references and enacting statutes here will all be double-checked. As you remember, there were also requests about accrued credits. I'm just moving around here to show you some credit programs, what the agency approving it would be, and to explain certain groups.

Secretary Gonzalez: Kazim, I know at one point we had talked about this column "administering agency," and what we are trying to identify is when there is a state agency which has some discretion as to who gets a credit as opposed to when an agency, such as DOR for example, just approves or qualifies based on criteria. I think we should use this column to identify that.

Auditor Bump: Recently, we were talking to a tax policy expert, and his way to distinguish was between tax expenditures that may be entitlements rather than those that might be discretionary. So, that may be helpful.

Secretary Gonzalez: Right, so for example, I would take DOR out of that column.

Kazim Ozyurt: Right. So as I had also mentioned, there is the clawback question. Some of these expenditures require clawbacks. We have a clawback statute, but there are also questions about sunsets. Are there any tax expenditures with caps or sunset provisions? We've identified several of these.

Also, we asked if there are some areas that we don't tax. Are there some types of goods we don't tax? Also, are there any offsetting tax considerations? There may be some ramifications on the corporate side that we'll have to work through, but on the income side they're relatively easy to identify. So, we indicated that here as well as a description of how this expenditure is going to work its way through the system.

Are there any other questions, requests, or updates? This is supposed to be on the website. One other thing I would mention, the charts. These have to do with the historical account of the tax expenditures, and how many expenditures historically have come in and out. As to the amount, we have created two charts, one with services and one without. We are happy to answer any questions or suggestions you might have for these charts.

Secretary Gonzalez: First, let me apologize for being late, but Kazim and the team at DOR have obviously done a great amount of work in a short amount of time. This product in and of itself is amazing. You know, this is an area that hasn't been evaluated in this way before, and I want to thank DOR for informing us more on what we're talking about.

Chairman Kaufman: I want to add my congratulations and thanks. We've been looking at other states, and this blows it away with the level of detail and specificity.

Alan Clayton-Matthews: Can I take a moment to have you explain the nature of the tax expenditures in these charts? I'm thinking about the first chart here with sales tax.

Kazim Ozyurt: [Explaining some details of the charts and sizes of exemptions and breaks.]

Secretary Gonzalez: Auditor, did you have a question?

Auditor Bump: So, with regard to this cart, it doesn't include the value of income lost because of the way we define the business materials exception. Because they are not part of the tax code, we don't have a group for them?

Commissioner Pitter: You know, because it's a retail and sales tax, it's supposed to be overall. But, you get into gradations and taxes within there that are grey areas. What you'll find is there is disparate treatment. Some are exempt and some are not exempt. Of the ones that are exempt, where clearly not a part of the tax base structurally, we include as an exemption.

Alan Clayton-Mathews: So, like a dumpster? It's captured here because it is an exemption.

Kazim Ozyurt: Yes, you see here we include all these exemptions, identified by exemption, and then we try to estimate them. They are exempt for whatever purpose, but the attempt has been to estimate the [financial] impact if they are specified.

Auditor Bump: I have one other question, and this one goes to the description of beneficiaries. I think it's one thing to identify the intended typical beneficiary and another to make clear, in the interest of evaluating tax equity or effectiveness, who the actual recipients are. Maybe by size, geographic location, industry type, is this something it's possible to do?

Commissioner Pitter: So you're saying categorize what these corporations look like, or are you asking to get to the secondary level of beneficiaries?

Auditor Bump: No, an analysis of who the beneficiaries are. Is it predominately benefitting one industry more than another or one group more than other groups?

Kazim Ozyurt: You know, we do capture data from certain items and for certain ones its less possible to do. Many come from federal statute, so the category is broad. We may know the profile but not the actual distributionary patterns. So yes, some could be done, but it may be impossible to do for all of them. It still may not answer your question of effectiveness yet.

Auditor Bump: Yes, I fully understand that this isn't quite a cost/benefit analysis. But, is there a way to see more clearly if it has achieved its goals or benefits?

Secretary Gonzalez: I really want to move on to these other topics, so maybe this is a good segue to how we should be defining tax expenditures from this commission.

I'd like to first ask Amy Pitter to please discuss how DOR is interpreting this, per our statute. Since it is sometimes a little unclear as to what we include, I'd like Amy to walk through one more time how we approach it and get a sense of whether this is something the commission wants to debate. To the extent that it's not, we can quickly move on to the guiding principles we want to adopt. However, if there is some difference of opinion, we can bring it back.

Commissioner Pitter: I'd like to refresh everyone's memory from the first meeting. As you recall, the general definition is that any exclusion, deduction or deferral that reduces the theoretical maximum and its revenue forgone is a tax expenditure.

There are a couple of things to point out. Here, we looked specifically at three things. The way we've looked at it further is broken down from this, but there are other areas we certainly note. A few other things, the Massachusetts definition talks about exclusions, exemptions and deductions but not about deferrals. However, deferrals are examined more by economists, and we do use these. Are there any questions in general?

Chairman Kaufman: I have a quick question. If we used the term "business" as opposed to "corporation" does that still cover it? Is shifting here a downside or complication?

Commissioner Pitter: No, we can do that. If in the future we want to bring financial institutions into the budget, we don't have to change anything.

Secretary Gonzalez: So in this number, exemptions for some of these businesses that are not corporations, the value of this lost revenue is not included?

Kazim Ozyurt: Some are and some are not. For example insurance companies, we now just try to put it in the corporate category and use it generally, but if this is extended we can modify it.

Secretary Gonzalez: Does anyone feel like we shouldn't be including this? If the reason we aren't is just a statutory definition, we can possibly change it. But for now, I think we should include it.

Representative Levy: Another question, when you talk about general provisions, are you talking about a separate act that creates them? If you exclude something particularly, it was never intended to be a part of the base. Are you considering this as well, or are you just talking about different changes in the base?

Commissioner Pitter: Well, there's a debate about this.

Secretary Gonzalez: But the fact we don't tax our services, is that defined in the original code establishing it or is that a separate regulation that says we want to exclude this? If it's in the original law is it still considered an expenditure?

Jim Stock: I think it's useful not to get too bogged down in the details but focus on broad concepts. You have the taxation of individuals and then those expenditures. You have taxation of income of businesses, and any deduction from that would be an expenditure. Then, on sales there's a question of whether you go on the VAT concept, and that's where there's some confusion. I believe we have a retail tax concept rather than a VAT concept with regard to the end consumer. I think the first two are consistent with the broader concepts, and then sidestep all these minor statutory definitions. We don't want to get too bogged down in the legislative history.

Secretary Gonzalez: I think this makes a lot of sense, and it's consistent with the way DOR approaches this.

Jim Stock: Well yes and no. I do want to focus on the sales tax concept. With a VAT, the exemption would be treated differently.

Secretary Gonzalez: If it's okay, let's have Amy go through a few other things.

Commissioner Pitter: Yes. So, for the most part, we do take a more theoretical view. We do consider the non-taxation of services, rental property, etc., to be tax expenditure items.

Jim Stock: If final consumer?

Commissioner Pitter: Yes. Again, we want to categorize this, but you get into shades of grey. You get into pyramiding.

Jim Stock: Yes, I think that is quite clear. But, for example the exemption in the dumpster case is for the garbage collection services not the dumpster itself.

Commissioner Pitter: Yes, I think sales and retail is a bright line. But, if you take two things and put them together and that becomes the manufactured item for sale, then you get into other questions of exemption.

We wanted to mention the grey areas again and then move on. We talked about personal expenditures and exemptions. Things like no tax status, we don't consider this. We consider it structural and progressive not a tax expenditure.

Moving on to federal, as we've discussed before some tax expenditures are just piggybacks. We do still quantify these, but they don't lose their qualification. A related issue, as I've mentioned before, is the concept of a deferral, which note. The final thing, again we talked about this before, is noting tax expenditure items that benefit organizations and not strictly corporations.

Chairman Kaufman: In anticipation of the next conversation, it seems we ought to adopt as a principle that any deviation from 100 percent collection seems to be agreed on as a tax expenditure.

Auditor Bump: I agree with that, but I have a historical question. You're working off a definition from when, 1984? Has there been a change in the DOR's approach to this over time? The last really detailed tax expenditure budget is from 1991, and they go into some discussion for the layperson. I found it pretty valuable. Has this approach been consistent over time?

Kazim Ozyurt: Yes, I think for the most part it has been consisted with regard to definitions and treatment. I don't have specific studies or statistics, but we have tried to be as inclusive as possible with our groups and these have been consistent.

Secretary Gonzalez: Chairman?

Chairman Kaufman: Quickly, I just want to confirm that sales is definitely retail sales and not VAT. We may want to revisit this, but not now. One other question, do we capture lost sales due to internet sales in this definition?

Kazim Ozyurt: We have certain estimates, but that's not complete. Those forgone revenues are not currently included.

Alan Clayton-Matthews: I'm still confused about this retail sales thing. Certain items are taxed and certain items are not taxed with regard to goods versus final goods. What do we count as an expenditure?

Kevin Brown [from the audience]: I think I may be able to address this. I would say that if you're talking about retail sales, there are retail sales to businesses. I think this is where you get to the line with the VAT as I understand it. Sales to a business, again, can be retail. They are the final user. With a VAT, it's more of a pyramid.

Alan Clayton-Matthews: So retail sales is as to final use.

Jim Stock: So, I think the logic is right. The retail sales idea is falling on the last consumer and VAT is breaking this up along the way.

Kevin Brown: Another way to view it might be that yes, these are tax expenditures but it's good policy. There's a certain level of pyramiding built into this. But it just may be there are some tax expenditures that are appropriate to avoid multiplication.

Chairman Kaufman: So we may just have to live with the grey zone.

Secretary Gonzalez: If people are a little uncomfortable, I think we can just look at it as DOR has been defining it with the grey areas and proceed on this basis, except for including all businesses not only corporations. To the extent people want to revisit this, or as we get into it if people think we should take an affirmatively different definition of tax expenditures we can revisit it. I think just for the purposes of having something to work with, we should go with the more inclusive definition and work from there.

Jim Stock: Yes, I think with one caveat that if we're looking at this with a different tax concept than what we have now, we can recognize that. I think this is different from a tax expenditure.

Secretary Gonzalez: I'm not sure that this is exactly the case, but I think all of you who consider this a lot, if you're really focusing on the theory behind it and inconsistencies, please bring it to our attention.

Auditor Bump: I encourage you all to look at this. I found it provided a really good presentation of the issues that may be helpful to walk us through it.

Auditor Bump distributed copies of the 1991 tax expenditure budget.

Secretary Gonzalez: I think our report, rather we resolve all this or not, should point out these issues.

So, we can move on to our third item of the day. Looking at these principles, I think we've been charged with something new. I hope this commission can make thoughtful recommendations to the legislature and governor about what we can do differently within our budget. The composition of this commission really says something about the type of work that the legislature is trying to get at the end of the day.

Secretary Gonzalez distributes his proposed list of principles.

Secretary Gonzalez: I think that this list has been informed by the discussions we've already had. I put this out just as a starting point for discussion, and I want to dedicate the entire following meeting to really discussing this and hopefully putting to a vote some final recommendations as to what our principles are.

Secretary Gonzalez discusses his list of proposed principles:

- 1) The tax expenditure budget is one element of a tax system that should, in its entirety:
  - a. Provide adequate revenue to consistently support a desired level of government services
  - b. Be as equitable as possible while recognizing differences in taxpayers' capacity to pay taxes
  - c. Reflect our values and our public policy objectives
  - d. Be as simple and efficient as possible
- 2) Tax expenditures are a form of taxpayer spending and should be treated as such by government policymakers
- 3) There should be a comprehensive, rational, policy-driven and analytic approach to our tax expenditure budget. Each particular tax expenditure should:
  - a. Have a clearly identified public policy purpose
  - b. Be subject to a regular, data-based, cost-benefit analysis
  - c. Be subject to a regular review by the Legislature and the Governor
  - d. To the extent the tax expenditure is dependent on certain conduct of the tax beneficiary and/or is approved and awarded pursuant to the discretion of an administering agency, it should be subject to well-articulated standards of accountability with appropriate enforcement mechanisms
- 4) Ideally, in the interest of simplicity and equity, the total number of tax expenditures and the total amount of foregone revenues from the tax expenditure budget (or the total cost of the tax expenditure budget) should be reduced
- 5) Policymakers should not be beholden to the status quo a fresh look at how to achieve desired objectives through a tax expenditure budget is warranted
- 6) Policymakers and the public need and deserve transparent, well-developed data regarding the tax expenditure budget

Al Gordon: One point I'd certainly like to suggest is the need for efficiency and efficacy for the tax code. I think this should also be done for the tax expenditure idea. I'd like to think about goals for both strategy and tactics. For example, growing jobs, tactics could be breaks in those specific industries. I think these will change as the economy evolves, but our principles will stand much longer. Maybe we can think about these goals broadly.

Chairman Kaufman: First of all, I like this very much. I might quibble a bit with the wording. I think the priorities will require periodic reviews of both the particular expenditures and the goals we want to achieve. I think we should really have a conversation about what our priorities are and make that a part of the principles. I think we should include as a set of principles a little more specificity about what a good report and transparency really mean. We could put this into some sort of list or even legislation if necessary. We might include, as a principle, a definition of a tax expenditure that will evolve. Lastly, I don't know if we want to adopt this or not, but in many conversations there's a preference for tax expenditures that have a broad impact as opposed to those with very specific ones. We might want to say that we have a priority for expenditures with a very broad impact. I think we might want to make that a sort of rule and then highlight possible exceptions.

Secretary Gonzalez: I think these are great comments. We will reflect them in the minutes and come back to them in the next meeting.

Jim Stock: I would add a general item that we promote economic efficiency and economic growth, and I think that's consistent with what we are all saying. We can come back to that.

Representative Levy: You know, just a philosophical issue to note. This is taxpayer money. I think that tax expenditures as a form of taxpayer spending could be reworded to tax revenue spending.

Alan Clayton-Matthews: I think some helpful suggestions for thinking about the policy purpose and primary role of a tax expenditure could by one of three things. It's either addressing efficiency for some market failure, addressing goals of distribution or fairness, or address allocation. By allocation, I mean what types of activities are undertaken that we want to promote in the state and how intensively do we want to promote them. I think this helps you think about the rationale of a tax expenditure. I'd like to point out that we can always ask if tax expenditures are the most effective way to meet these goals.

Secretary Gonzalez: Well, we're at the end of our time. I think that in recognition of demand on certain members of this commission between now and January 25<sup>th</sup>, we'll try to hold the next meeting very soon after January 25<sup>th</sup>. That will give everyone a little more time to think about this then dedicate ourselves to discussion and action on these principles.

Chairman Kaufman: Would you like to get our comments and edits?

Secretary Gonzalez: Yes, send those to David. I think it will help us get a modified version of this for the next meeting. Thank you everyone.

Tax Expenditure Commission – Fourth Meeting Comptroller's Office February 6, 2012

#### Members in Attendance

Jay Gonzalez, Secretary of Administration & Finance, Chair of Tax Expenditure Commission Alan Clayton-Matthews, Member of Governor's Council of Economic Advisors Jim Stock, Member of Governor's Council of Economic Advisers Suzanne Bump, Auditor Sen. Stephen Brewer, Chair of Senate Committee on Ways and Means Sen. Katherine Clark, Senate Chair of Joint Committee on Revenue Rep. Brian Dempsey, Chair of House Committee on Ways and Means Rep. Jay Kaufman, House Chair of Joint Committee on Revenue Rep. Steven Levy, Designee of House Minority Leader Bradley Jones Sen. Michael Knapik, Designee of Senate Minority Leader Bruce Tarr Steven Grossman, Treasurer and Receiver General

### **Minutes**

Secretary Gonzalez: Alright everyone, I think we will get started. I want to thank everyone for coming. I think this is our first Commission meeting since December, and I thank you for giving my staff and me time to work on other things last month.

As we discussed at the last meeting, I want to focus this meeting completely on finalizing the proposed principles. My hope is that we can vote on these principles today and have them as a guide for our next meetings going forward. As a reminder, we spent the first few meetings doing a lot of work on just the information and data related to our tax expenditure budget. I'm told now that we have one of the most robust compilations of information of any state at this time. This is thanks in large part to all the work that DOR (Department of Revenue) has done, and that data is available for anyone who wants to see it on the DOR website. This data is also something that we will continue to update and come back to.

I want to send a copy of this (proposed Tax Expenditure Commission principles) down to Senator Knapik and Treasurer Grossman. After the last meeting, I solicited comments from Commission members on the draft principles distributed last meeting. I got a number of different suggestions from all the members, and what I've done in the interest of having a functional process for getting principles which we can have a consensus around...

(Brief interruption while Senator Clark enters)

Secretary Gonzalez: Welcome Senator Clark. For those of you who don't know, Senator Clark was recently appointed Senate Chair of the Revenue Committee.

So, what I've done is taken pieces from all the suggestions I received, and what I'm hoping to do now is walk through the changes I've made to the last draft and point out some suggestions I received from Commission members that were either incorporated here or not and what my

thinking was behind that. I think it will be helpful just to go through this to understand and then process wise take up each principle one by one and allow members to bring up any substantive material changes they have to any of the principles. I would ask that these be substantive edits and not technical corrections or changes. I hope to have a vote at the end of the meeting and then deal with any technical edits later. To the extent that any of you have opinions that are different than my substantive draft, or if you have changes or additions, please bring them up when we go through the specific point.

[Secretary Gonzalez's revised draft Tax Expenditure Commission Principles

- 1) The tax expenditure budget is one element of a tax system that should, in its entirety:
  - a. Provide adequate revenue to consistently support a desired level of government services
  - b. Promote economic growth and overall economic welfare
  - c. Be as equitable as possible while recognizing differences in taxpayers' capacity to pay taxes
  - d. Reflect our values and our public policy objectives
- 2) Tax expenditures are a form of taxpayer spending and should be subject to the same scrutiny by government policymakers as direct expenditures
- 3) Ideally, in the interest of simplicity and equity, the total number of tax expenditures and the total amount of foregone revenues from the tax expenditure budget (or the total cost of the tax expenditure budget) should be reduced and limited to those that are highly effective at achieving the related public policy purpose
- 4) There should be a comprehensive, rational, policy-driven and analytic approach to our tax expenditure budget. Each particular tax expenditure should:
  - a. Have a clearly identified public policy purpose and desired outcome for clearly identified beneficiaries
  - b. Be subject to a periodic, data-based, cost-benefit analysis that measures success in achieving the public policy purpose and desired outcome for the intended beneficiaries
  - c. Be subject to a periodic review by the Legislature and the Governor for the purpose of determining the effectiveness of the tax expenditure and taking any action to eliminate, modify or preserve the tax expenditure hat may be warranted based on such determination
  - d. To the extent the tax expenditure is dependent on certain conduct of the tax beneficiary and/or is approved and awarded pursuant to the discretion of an administering agency, it should be subject to well-articulated standards of accountability with appropriate enforcement mechanisms
- 5) Policymakers and the public need and deserve transparent, well-developed data regarding the tax expenditure budget]

Secretary Gonzalez: Okay, I will quickly walk through changes to the last draft and then go through comments I received and whether they are reflected or not.

In principle 1, I added a new sub-point (b). This was based on comments by Jim Stock as well as comments we received from the Chamber and others.

In number 2, I revised how the principle was written just to make it clear that tax expenditures should be treated the same way as general expenditures, in line with comments from the Auditor and others.

I changed the order of numbers 3 and 4 just for logistical reasons. Number 3, based on some input from Rep. Kaufman and others, was changed to say that tax expenditures themselves – not only the number and amount – should be related to high effectiveness. Really meaning something more to a high rate of return, and I think high rate of return suggests financial return to the state. But, many of our expenditures aren't directly related to this generation of money – for example, the sales tax exemption on clothes – but are very progressive. I think this phrasing reflects that.

Number 4, what was previous number three, was a point from a few people, but the Auditor in particular suggests we not only outline the policy behind each expenditure but also the desired outcome and intended beneficiaries of each expenditure. We have done a lot of work with DOR to explain these points, although many times these aren't reflected explicitly in the statute and we are surmising. But, we've got a much better idea about these points now.

In number 4(b), I changed the term regular to periodic. I didn't see that as too substantive a change, so I made that. Also, I included the discussion of not only what the goal of each expenditure is, but also assessing how well we're doing with relation to each goal and its helping who we are intending to help. This makes clear that there should not only be a periodical review, but also suggests what the purpose of the periodical review should be. So, I added language to make sure that the legislature and Governor should have an analysis going forward for how to review these and then determine whether to reserve or modify.

4(d), I didn't make any changes to this one, although there were some comments.

What was previously number 5, some had suggested changing some language, some had suggested taking out the language altogether. I think going back to the former number 5, we decided to take it out and have it as some sort of introductory language in our statement on what we are doing as a whole in the Commission and what our purposes are.

The last principle (now number 5) has not changed really since the last draft. There were some suggestions in the comments, and I'll come back to that.

From Al Gordon, on behalf of Treasurer Grossman, he suggested we build in some efficiency language. I believe we did that in number 4. He had also suggested distinguishing between broader long term goals and specific tactics. I didn't build anything into this draft language for the larger discussion, because I saw this as a more detailed level of analysis; and, I think it's built into our principles, such as 1(e). But, I tried to draw a line between high level principles and where we may go ultimately with specific recommendations. Al had suggested reworking number 2, and this draft does that. He also suggested modifying number 3 to adjust tax base policy as well as reducing tax expenditures, and I think his point is if we get to the point where any tax requirement has more exceptions to it than it does those paying it as originally intended,

maybe we should reconsider the whole thing. I also see this as incorporated in number 1 and what is now number 3, so I didn't add a more specific point.

Jim Stock, I mentioned his recommendation, which is now reflected in number 1.

Representative Kaufman, I tried to capture your suggested change in what is now number 3. In addition, he suggested regular reviews of each expenditure, and that we should also have a review every 5 years of the priorities of the Tax Expenditure Commission overall. I didn't include this, but I feel like we can agree that this is an overarching statement about the Commission. I also didn't know if we could specifically say this, because of all the moving pieces requiring review of different things in different ways. But, we can come back to this. There was also a suggestion that there should be a clear or competitive policy advantage to any tax expenditure. I thought that since we have modified number 3 to show that all expenditures should be achieving certain policy objectives, this was covered in number 3. Another suggestion from the Chairman that we should include a listing of any and all policies that include less than 100% collection, I thought this was more applicable to how we were actually defining a tax expenditure and not a general principle.

Chairman Kaufman: That point came out of the last meeting, and a conversation on how we would be dealing with this going forward.

Secretary Gonzalez: My suggestion is that maybe be a part of our final report.

There was another discussion or suggestion by the Auditor and others that I think included a principle that we need to be reporting good data to policymakers and the public. But, at this point, I didn't want to get into specifics. I mentioned this at a higher level in number 5, but I think this can be more specific in our final reports.

The Chamber submitted some comments, some of which I've mentioned. They suggested adding in what is now principle 3, that to the extent we are reducing our tax expenditure budget, we need to show exact figures on what the burden change will be and how it compares to similar taxes in other states. I think most of this is taken into account by number 2, but it may not be that in every case we want to have a comparison to other states, just as a policy matter. It is certainly a factor we will want to consider. They also recommended adding, to the point on transparency, some language with concern over tax payer confidentiality. I didn't make this point specifically. I think that it goes without saying that we want to recognize this. It may be, however, that certain expenditures that function differently would mean disclosing certain information under varying circumstances. Maybe we can discuss how and where this line is drawn, because ether is a strong policy interest in protecting confidentiality. However, there are grounds for disclosure on these points, as the legislature has already said.

The last comments were from Auditor Bump, making clear that we think about desired outcomes and intended beneficiaries, as reflected in number 4. I did not add in a suggestion that policymakers should be guided by the principle that if the expenditure was not one we would treat in the same way as an appropriation from the general fund, it is inappropriate. I think this may not be true in all circumstances. For example, in competitiveness review, we may want to do something from a tax credit perspective – to give a break to certain industries or businesses – that we would not want to fund from certain appropriations in the budget.

Auditor Bump: I think you captured, through other language, the issues that were most important to me, and I appreciate your earlier comments about avoiding too great a level of specificity about the kinds of expenditures we address. I think you did a great job with this.

Secretary Gonzalez: A few other points were on the measurability of success, the details of what should be disclosed. I think you had a number of specific points related to [what will be] later discussions.

So, I think what I'd like to do now is just open it up to any discussion and any recommended material – again not technical – changes.

Treasurer Grossman: Jay, just 4 quick comments. First, and perhaps minor, I like the term "economic growth" in 1(b), or maybe saying "economic opportunity" and not "welfare". That's just a minor comment, but there are three specific things. First, you know we put the state's checkbook online on December 5, 2011, and although we haven't captured everything within that yet, on balance the idea is that all spending of taxpayer money should be disclosed to the taxpayer. It's their money. I'd like to suggest we use the same principle here, and that consistent with confidentiality, we try to disclose in open checkbook format. Just as with open checkbook, we're writing a check every time we make one of these tax preferences, and the public has a right to know. So, I'd love to suggest this approach.

Secretary Gonzalez: That's a great point. As you know, our teams have been talking with the comptroller a lot about this, and this is actually my next goal for information to be put on open checkbook. That's something we've been working on together and are trying to get off as quickly as possible. Representative Kaufman, do you agree with this?

Chairman Kaufman: Yes, absolutely, although I don't know if I want to do this in exactly the same way. I think on this high level recommendation idea, just keeping as high a level as possible, I'm not sure. There is all sorts of detail I would like to eventually see, but where do we draw the line.

Treasurer Grossman: I just think that full disclosure, this is a high level principle we can all agree on. The burden has to be on something, such as unless we're violating a statute or impacting an ongoing legal dispute, then as a principle we should be disclosing as much as possible for public comment.

Number two, I know that you're working a lot with UMass Boston on performance measurement, or metrics, and I think that terminology may want to find its way in here.

Finally, some of the language in 4(d), I think we may want to use terminology suggesting recourse. My short form is that we do believe in clawbacks, and that we won't hesitate to seek every award of tax breaks inappropriately awarded or sought. I know that Suzanne has been a warrior on this issue, so I think that it could be reflected here.

Secretary Gonzalez: Okay, I think just moving through each of these one by one may be helpful, and then if we can talk about the Chairman's comment on the level of detail and what we should be putting in or not. I'm just thinking in terms of process, if we get higher level principles agreed on today, maybe next meeting we can establish some groups – maybe subcommittees – that can really flesh out more detail on those issues important to them. I think this may be helpful as we talk about it.

So, principle 1, aside from the Treasurer's terminology suggestion, are there other comments?

Alan Clayton-Matthews: Yes. I understand the Treasurer's comment on terminology, but how about "well-being" as opposed to "economic opportunity". I think economic well-being has the meaning you're intending.

Secretary Gonzalez: Maybe I can suggest, "well-being and opportunity?"

Jim Stock: Let me be clear what I'm getting at on terminology. It's clear that this is an economist term, and it's difficult to get at. You know, it's discussing what we tax relative to other items; for example, groceries verses clothes verses other goods. And, this is a distortion. There are policy reasons to have these, but it is a distortion. One of the guiding principles for taxation is just to minimize distortion in general and allow the market to self-regulate more. Some people have said they want to eliminate expenditures just to eliminate these distortions and then allow other rates to change. I understand not wanting to use terminology that gets too confusing, but "welfare" does have a real economic meaning that is focused on the reduction of distortion.

Secretary Gonzalez: So what do you suggest?

Jim Stock: Well, you know I thought this problem might come up, but I don't have a clear solution. The statement "minimizing distortion" isn't going to help in this regard. I don't know. I've struggled with this, and I don't have a clear solution.

Chairman Dempsey: Secretary, this discussion of "well-being and opportunity" doesn't quite do it?

Auditor Bump: Why doesn't equity get you at last part of the way? Maybe equity and stability make it more complete?

Jim Stock: Well, equity is loaded right?

Auditor Bump: Yes.

Chairman Kaufman: Public welfare. I mean, I use the term loosely to mean the health of the overall economy. It may not be specific, but it gets at the overall idea that we want to help the overall economy. It's a political term of art that works.

Secretary Gonzalez: Okay, I'm going to say public welfare and opportunity.

Chairman Brewer: Okay, 1(c). I know we're talking about higher level principles, but I think this could be seen as supporting a graduated income tax at some point in time.

Secretary Gonzalez: It could. Again, this is high level, and if you look at our tax system now, our income tax is actually very progressive where we have other taxes that are not. I think this isn't about a particular fix, just that we should be looking at the tax system as a whole as being progressive.

Chairman Brewer: Well, we've had this battle before. Not in the last few years, but this graduated income tax is something we've battled before. I just think this may give our seal of approval to the graduated income tax idea, and I think that's best left to the referendum process.

Chairman Kaufman: I accept that this could be used to frame it like that. But, I don't see this as advancing the argument that we ought to that any more than any other forms of tax reform we're considering that are in part motivated by reconsidering how taxes are constructed.

Senator Knapik: Mr. Chairman, I think that people could construe this principle as something that leads us down a different road than just – looking at this with a common sense approach for 2012, do these expenditures make sense? I think this may be a little over where we want this Commission to be. I think people are already looking at this Commission with – what is its purpose? What are they trying to do? I just don't know if we want this as a guiding principle.

Representative Levy: You know, just to the extent of Senator [Brewer's] comments, maybe we just say "be as equitable as possible" and leave "capacity to pay" to a more specific discussion.

Auditor Bump: But you know, capacity to pay comes up in almost every discussion you have in comparisons of policy, and it figures into the corporate side just as much as it does the personal side. When we say it's "loaded," we need to understand that, because this language applies to both sides.

Alan Clayton-Matthews: You know, I think "capacity to pay," we're really talking about the capacity to pay once taxes are taken out. Maybe go with terminology about "capacity" with regard to cost of living.

Chairwoman Clark: You know, I think this is a suggestion about being as equitable as possible, and this is inherently going to include "capacity to pay" considerations.

Secretary Gonzalez: You know, "equitable" could mean taxing the same rate uniformly. If we didn't have an expenditure for lower income, it might be "equitable" with regard to application but not with regard to "ability to pay." My own personal opinion on this is, just like everyone may agree to the principle that there must be adequate revenue for a desired level of government, we're going to have a difference of opinion on what the level of government actually is. I think we need to take this into account. All I think is suggested by 1(c) is not that we should have any

specific rule, but that simply in addressing the tax system as a whole – taking these concepts of "equity" and "ability to pay" into account – this is something we can work from.

So, in light of the discussion, does anyone feel as if this needs to be changed?

Chairman Brewer: As long as you're on record saying we're not advocating a graduated income tax with this principle, I'm okay with it.

Secretary Gonzalez: Yes, and I think we can add that clarification to the introduction of our final recommendation.

Representative Levy: You know, I just think taking out the word "while" may help.

Chairwoman Clark: We could say "including recognition of" rather than "while recognizing."

Secretary Gonzalez: Okay, so taking that language into account, can we move on to number 2?

Chairman Kaufman: Oh, I'm sorry, one more. I wonder if you could clarify what is meant by the word "efficient" in 1(d). Are we talking about simplicity and efficiency for the taxpayer or about administrative collection efficiency?

Secretary Gonzalez: I think it's talking about both.

Chairman Kaufman: So, "efficiency" may be targeting administrative efficiency?

Senator Knapik: You know, in the statute it does say "administrative efficiency." It does reference this as an end goal of the Commission.

Secretary Gonzalez: So yes, as simple and "administratively efficient" as possible.

Chairman Kaufman: Well, I think certainly any tax code or tax policy will certainly include efficiency in both the economic and administrative sense of the word. You don't want any mixed signals with relation to the policy behind all this.

Senator Knapik: You know, it's pretty simple what the legislature asked the Commission to do around tax expenditures and not necessarily the tax code in general. I mean, number one – we need to make it realistic and as understandable for the public as possible. I don't think we should over-think either the charge of the statute or our guiding principles.

Chairman Kaufman: You know, by definition – as I understand it – any tax expenditure violates the rule of simplicity. So, that being the case, it creates complications in administration and arguable economic inefficiencies. So, I don't want us – as a matter of general principle – to preclude the simplicity of just wiping out tax expenditures overall. I mean, we aren't going to do that, but if we're looking at simplicity, we have to look at it like this.

Secretary Gonzalez: You know, I think this is picked up by point 4(b), that if something we're doing isn't economically efficient, we're going to look at it. So maybe, Representative Kaufman, if we just say "administrative efficiency," will you be okay with that?

Chairman Kaufman: Yes.

Secretary Gonzalez: Okay, so I know there are comments on number 1, but moving on to number 2.

Treasurer Grossman: Jay, I would love to see us add that this should be subject to the same scrutiny and public disclosure as direct expenditures, and recognizing that this is key to bringing the people of the Commonwealth into what we're doing and why we're doing it.

Secretary Gonzalez: You know, I think we tried to bring this into number 5. If you feel that 5 doesn't address this accurately when we get there, we can kind of tighten it up with your concerns; because, we were trying to use that for a principle of disclosure.

Treasurer Grossman: I'm just trying to find a way to put in this certain basic principle – that this is full public disclosure. Yes, there are confidentiality issues, and I understand this concern. But, I still think public disclosure in anything is going to enhance trust for what we're doing here.

Chairman Kaufman: Secretary, to your point, if the words "public disclosure" could be added to number 5, right after "need," it's just an alternate place to put it. But, I agree that it should be there.

Treasurer Grossman: Yes, just if the phrase "public disclosure" is somewhere, number 5 is probably an okay place to put it.

Secretary Gonzalez: Any other suggested changes to number 2?

Okay, number 3?

Chairman Kaufman: I have a couple things. Since these are designed to be enduring principles, we could consider including wording about a time frame – maybe something about "five years from now."

Also, I think there were thoughts from others about adding to number 3 the notion that tax expenditures are to be, in general, aimed at a broad number of tax payers. And, when they are targeted more narrowly, they should be very pointedly explained. I think just as a broad principle, maybe saying that these should be broadly applicable expenditures.

Alan Clayton-Matthews: I think this is a very political concept. I mean, there may be a purpose to excluding a particular group.

Jay Kaufman: I don't necessarily think we should as a rule proscribe it, but let me read my possible wording.

Secretary Gonzalez: Just as a reminder, my point in this draft is that it should be limited to a targeted group of beneficiaries, but that any tax expenditure – regardless of its applicability to a certain class or constituency – should be highly effective.

Chairman Dempsey: I think we want the flexibility as policymakers to capture the idea of economic growth and overall impact, and not be too proscriptive by capturing all of this in our principles. We still need the flexibility to debate these issues without being constrained by our set of principles.

Secretary Gonzalez: Any other reactions?

Treasurer Grossman: So, if this is to reduce, limit, and make more effective, the expenditures have to be demonstrated as effective for certain identified policy objectives and goals.

Secretary Gonzalez: Representative Kaufman, do you think we should be distinguishing the level of review between tax expenditures for a broad class and those for a specific group of people?

Chairman Kaufman: No, I'm not saying different levels of review, just that the tax expenditures as a whole should be broad based if possible.

Auditor Bump: I thought [Secretary Gonzalez] had addressed the words well, because it speaks to principle and not specific action. I think for this reason, I would argue against the specific language you're suggesting because it deviates from principle and goes toward a specific attitude of action toward tax expenditures present or future. And, that is a limiting principle, as Representative Dempsey said.

Chairman Kaufman: Okay, well as we get to recommendations, I would like to reserve this point and say maybe it should be included in a more detailed discussion.

Secretary Gonzalez: Okay, well based on this conversation, I will strike the words "reduced and."

Senator Knapik: Do you need the word "ideally?" It's a strong word.

Secretary Gonzalez: I'm comfortable striking this.

No other comments on 3? Comments or concerns on 4? Okay, hearing none...

Auditor Bump: I think this goes to Steven [Grossman]'s point earlier, in 4(d), that maybe we want to suggest more language with how we enforce and recover.

Secretary Gonzalez: Yes, this was written generally, but may I suggest we add the final language "such as clawbacks?"

There were other language changes that I made to 4(a), (b), and (c), setting forth actual experience analysis against the purported goals. So, this concept is here.

Chairman Brewer: Just on 4(c), the periodic review. Just, with your articulation of this, are you implying that every tax expenditure would be subject to a sunset clause?

Secretary Gonzalez: We aren't saying how this should be done. I know some people think yes, all sunset clauses. Some people think no sunset clauses, but periodic review. I think the means by which this is done is something we can make a later recommendation on. But, I think the point is that on some basis we need to be evaluating this differently than it has previously been done.

Okay, number 5. I suggest revising this to say something about disclosing relevant information regarding the ax expenditure budget based on public need.

Chairwoman Clark: My alternative suggestion would be the language "should" or "would be public" and "well developed data." You know, emphasizing the public need as one of our principles and using the language "should" or "would."

Secretary Gonzalez: What if we said, "There should be public disclosure of well-developed data regarding the tax expenditure budget." Period. Or maybe "useful data."

Treasurer Grossman: It's a little less about full disclosure of the data and more about finding a way to show the public what we're doing and why we're doing it, as well as what we didn't do. The data, the metrics, that's the vehicle for creating full disclosure.

Jim Stock: What about saying "transparency?"

Chairman Kaufman: Or saying, "The same transparency and disclosure as other elements of the budget?"

Auditor Bump: So, are you looking for information on this tax expenditure budget, are you looking at or wanting disclosure of the effects on individual beneficiaries? What is it that you're actually getting at – individual beneficiaries? Open checkbook is very much about individual beneficiaries of direct expenditures, but if so, we have confidentiality issues that Mike [Knapik] was talking about.

Treasurer Grossman: Right, there are certain things that have to be consistent with statute and public policy, and we've always been comfortable with that without being explicit about what we disclose and what we don't. I just think if this is a tax expenditure that helps certain economic growth and opportunity – fine. But, we should disclose enough detail with data and metrics, as to what we're doing, that the public can look at it and make a cost benefit analysis about it.

Senator Knapik: Right, but there are some things we are entitled to know or not know. From the point of view that the taxpayer has rights and the taxpayer is going to be hugely scrutinized here, why not throw in that language that it is in relation to the principles on long-standing taxpayer confidentiality?

Auditor Bump: Yes, I think this enhances its clarity.

Secretary Gonzalez: So, "Relevant and useful data regarding the tax expenditure budget should be subject to full disclosure for the benefit of policymakers and the public, consistent with longstanding principles of taxpayer confidentiality?"

Chairman Brewer: I just want to make sure this is consistent with the law.

(David E. Sullivan, General Counsel for the Executive Office for Administration and Finance, confirms that this is consistent)

Secretary Gonzalez: Are there any principles anyone really wants to discuss or add that are not on this sheet? If so, we can discuss it.

Okay, so the changes are, to 1(e), making the language, "Promote economic growth and overall economic welfare and opportunity." Changes to 2, the words "ideally" and "reduced and" struck. 4(d) is changed to add "such as clawbacks" at the end, and number 5 is changed to read, "Relevant and useful data regarding the tax expenditure budget should be subject to full disclosure for the benefit of policymakers and the public, consistent with longstanding principles of taxpayer confidentiality."

Motion to Approve?

(The motion to approve was made)

Second?

(The motion was seconded)

All those in favor, say I.

(All members voted in favor)

All those opposed?

(None were opposed)

The motion passes unanimously.

I want to thank you all for your participation in the drafting process and all the helpful comments today. We'll try to schedule the next meeting for some time later this month or early next month. Thank you.

## TAX EXPENDITURE COMMISSION PRINCIPLES Approved Unanimously at February 6, 2012 Commission Meeting

- 1) The tax expenditure budget is one element of a tax system that should, in its entirety:
  - a. Provide adequate revenue to consistently support a desired level of government services
  - b. Promote economic growth and overall economic welfare and opportunity
  - c. Be as equitable as possible, including recognition of differences in taxpayers' capacity to pay taxes
  - d. Reflect our values and our public policy objectives
  - e. Be as simple and administratively efficient as possible
- 2) Tax expenditures are a form of taxpayer spending and should be subject to the same scrutiny by government policymakers as direct expenditures
- 3) In the interest of simplicity and equity, the total number of tax expenditures and the total amount of foregone revenues from the tax expenditure budget (or the total cost of the tax expenditure budget) should be limited to those that are highly effective at achieving the related public policy purpose
- 4) There should be a comprehensive, rational, policy-driven and analytic approach to our tax expenditure budget. Each particular tax expenditure should:
  - a. Have a clearly identified public policy purpose and desired outcome for clearly identified beneficiaries
  - b. Be subject to a periodic, data-based, cost-benefit analysis that measures success in achieving the public policy purpose and desired outcome for the intended beneficiaries
  - c. Be subject to a periodic review by the Legislature and the Governor for the purpose of determining the effectiveness of the tax expenditure and taking any action to eliminate, modify or preserve the tax expenditure that may be warranted based on such determination
  - d. To the extent the tax expenditure is dependent on certain conduct of the tax beneficiary and/or is approved and awarded pursuant to the discretion of an administering agency, it should be subject to well-articulated standards of accountability with appropriate enforcement mechanisms, such as clawbacks
- 5) Relevant and useful data regarding the tax expenditure budget should be subject to full disclosure for the benefit of policymakers and the public, consistent with longstanding principles of taxpayer confidentiality

Tax Expenditure Commission – Fifth Meeting Comptroller's Office March 6, 2012

## Members in Attendance

Jay Gonzalez, Secretary of Administration and Finance, Chair of Tax Expenditure Commission Alan Clayton-Matthews, Member of Governor's Council of Economic Advisers (remotely) Jim Stock, Member of Governor's Council of Economic Advisers Suzanne Bump, Auditor Jennifer Saubermann, Designee of Sen. Stephen Brewer, Chair of Senate Committee on Ways and Means Sen. Katherine Clark, Senate Chair of Joint Committee on Revenue Rep. Jay Kaufman, House Chair of Joint Committee on Revenue Rep. Steven Levy, Designee of Senate Minority Leader Bradley Jones Sen. Michael Knapik, Designee of Senate Minority Leader Bruce Tarr Al Gordon, Designee of Steven Grossman, Treasurer and Receiver General

## <u>Minutes</u>

Secretary Gonzalez – Good morning everybody. I will officially call the Tax Expenditure Commission to order. Thank you all for being here. Does everybody have a copy of the agenda? Do the commission members have one?

# (Yes.)

First, my lawyer is suggesting that, since we have one of the commission members on the phone, we take a formal vote to allow him to participate remotely.

Does everyone have a copy of the meetings from last minute and have a chance to read them? Before we do that, let's let Alan vote for it.

The Attorney General's office has certain regulations to allow for remote participation, including for reasons of geographic distance, which is my understanding of why Alan Clayton-Matthews cannot be here in person today. Shall we vote to allow remote participation for these reasons as allowed by the Attorney General? This will be the exception and not the rule. All in favor, say Aye.

# (All vote Aye.)

Secretary Gonzalez: Great. Let's also vote on accepting the minutes of our last meeting. Auditor Bump: I move to accept the minutes. Secretary Gonzalez: All those in favor say Aye. (All vote Aye.) Secretary Gonzalez: Minutes are adopted unanimously Secretary Gonzalez: There are two other items to take up today. First, the Department of Revenue (DOR) data update on their website. It's been a while since we have heard from DOR on where that stands. This is a chance to get some guidance from commission members as to any other data they would like to be worked on before our final report, which is due at the end of April. I also want to develop a schedule to get us to that deadline, and letting DOR know rather quickly what data they should be working on for us would be good.

Second, I would like to begin a discussion of recommendations for our report. I have taken the first step of putting together an outline to get to that, but whether or not it is an adequate framework to work off of for our successive meetings is something we should take up today.

I will now ask Commissioner Pitter to give us an update on DOR's website work.

Commissioner Pitter: I am going to turn it over to Kazim Ozyurt, but do ask you do let us know of any additional data you would like for us to work on for the Commission.

Kazim Ozyurt: As you may have noticed we have reorganized the materials on the website for ease of understanding. As soon as you get to the Tax Expenditure Commission materials, you will see options on the left where you can drill down and get more info. The first screen will give you more information on our most recent Tax Expenditure Budget (TEB). We created a pdf version of this file. We have not made any changes in the format of this document at this time, but will of course take recommendations on this as a result of the commission's report if needed. The next document on the first page is the TEB Master database. It has info on many different categories. We have tried to compile all of the information requested here. It has information on many things, including beneficiaries, profiles, and what the benefits are. It's a good thing to look at and if it is missing anything let us know and it can be incorporated. We also posted the 1991 TEB budget. That will be available to the public as well. Also at the bottom we have included the Commissioner's TEB presentation.

Again, on the left you can drill down to different areas. As you know, the first item on the left column is the Tax Expenditure Commission agenda and minutes. I believe this is where the final report will be posted as well.

The next one item on the left column is a collection of reports. Some of these are statutorily required. Basically we are going to post some more, and do updates on those. The next item on the left column is information about refundable credits because, as you know, 2011 will be the first year when certain beneficiaries of refundable credits will be posted.

The next item is Research & Literature. We tried to categorize literature by topic so that someone who is trying to understand the budgeting process can easily find information. For example, we have had a session about TEBs and how various states have compiled them. Another research area is the taxation of services. I am going to come back to this because we have additional data on this area. I believe there was some discussion on this and it might be useful for the members to look at this research. Last in this list, but not least, is "Other TEB

Studies," which includes studies from several states. Only thing is that, here, we were unable to post some of the studies in whole because of copyright issues.

I want to go back a little bit to the study on Services Taxation. This is one of the most comprehensive studies we have found so far, a survey of all 50 states on the taxation of services. We have found that this study can be very useful if anyone wants to take a look at it. We also looked at the Federation of Tax Administrators (FTA) website to find out what types of services are being taxed. As you can see here, this survey has been done every few years for a long time, the most recent one being the 2007 survey. I want to open this file, it is in an excel format. It contains information of all different types of taxable services and answers by all 50 states on whether they do tax them and by how much, as compiled by the FTA. It gives you answers both over time and across states. This table here shows a summary of some the information. I believe this is very useful for members of the commission to have. The most useful column is this one, which allows you to sort by state and see how each one taxes certain services.

Secretary Gonzalez: Before you leave that page, there is an important piece of context that you all should remember. In FY12, the TEB is \$24 billion dollars. \$9 billion of that is from the fact that we do not tax services in MA. So this is particularly interesting state-by-state comparison of what other states do. Kazim, can you point to MA on that chart?

Kazim Ozyurt: Massachusetts is 5<sup>th</sup> in this survey, along with Montana, Nevada, and Virginia. This gives you a glimpse as to where we are as a state on service taxation.

Secretary Gonzalez: This is very useful information that shows us how we compare as a state. Kazim, is there any other information since this was last done?

Auditor Bump: Quick question about the FTA data. Is that updated on an annual basis?

Kazim Ozyurt: No, 2004 & 2007 were the last years. They do updates later on, but we mostly have access to other states individually and what they do.

Auditor Bump: This is tremendous information. Thank you for putting it all together.

Secretary Gonzalez: I know we have been seeing recently with other states, like Connecticut and Rhode Island, that one of their budget solutions it starting to tax more of these services. So, I don't know if this is a trend, but it is something our neighboring states are looking at. Thank you, Kazim.

Are there any other questions for Kazim, or do people have any other areas that they want DOR to look into and collect data on? You can also look at this information and send an email asking DOR to delve deeper into certain areas.

Chairman Kaufman: It would be good to get an update on these numbers since 2007, to the extent that this is possible, because we should be making decisions in real time as much as we can.

Kazim Ozyurt: We can look into that, yes.

Secretary Gonzalez: Great. We want to thank DOR so much for all of their work in putting together all of this data. Now, do you all have this outline? Ok, we are about to send it around.

(The outline – attached to these minutes -- is handed around the table).

Secretary Gonzalez: At our last meeting we made great progress by finalizing the Commission's priorities. What I thought might help next in trying to get consensus around a work plan is to put together an outline for what a final report would look like, and get a sense from you commission members on whether this is what a final report should look like.

A couple of points to start on this: Nothing written on this page is final, and even after this meeting they won't be final. This is more to get a sense on whether this is the right direction. So, even if the recommendations, in the end, are stated at a really lofty level, the purpose today, hopefully, is not to debate these recommendations, but to see if people agree generally that they are the types of issues we ought to be discussing.

Ideally, as of a couple of weeks from now, we will start having weekly meetings and we could use this outline in subsequent meetings as a work plan to get a more fleshed out version of the recommendations and then take votes to get to a final set of recommendations together for a report. That was my thinking behind this.

In terms of the outline, what I will do is walk through each section and get a quick reaction from people. I want to get a general sense if people think there is something missing and whether these are the right topics to be thinking about going forward. Does that big picture approach sound ok to people?

## (Agreement).

Secretary Gonzalez: Introduction: I thought this would be a section where we could state the genesis of the commission. Who the members are, who the staff are, describe the meetings we have had and describe the process. We could also include as an appendix all of the detailed minutes we've had.

## (Agreement)

Secretary Gonzalez: Then I thought we should have one section of the report that, at some level, lays out the facts of what our *current* TEB is. I see this as a place where we reflect a conversation of what is in all the stuff that DOR has developed for us, with somewhere on the website that links to the databases, such as the state-by-state comparison surveys, that DOR has put together. Are there any reactions to that?

Senator Clark: I had a question you may have just answered, which is how we describe/define the TEB. This might have already been described in a prior meeting – this is only my second meeting. But having that description would be helpful.

Secretary Gonzalez: Yes, in the minutes of previous meetings there is a description of the TEB, which is a slight modification of the definition used by DOR.

Next we could have a section on the findings of the TEB. It could start with the principles, which we have already agreed on. This is a section we could or could not have, but I think it might be helpful as a starting point of where the report is coming from.

Auditor Bump: I think either way, with or without it, would be fine. I say we leave it for the drafters to choose, but it might be redundant.

Chairman Kaufman: I could also go either way. It could serve as a preamble to our existence, or it might serve as a summary or starting point for ourselves.

Secretary Gonzalez: This is an area we probably could decide, process wise, as we are taking votes on the final report.

Auditor Bump: You could put this in the legislative mandate as these facts being what gave rise to the commission.

Chairman Kaufman: I would be happy leaving this for the drafting committee to decide.

Secretary Gonzalez: I believe the drafting committee is one person. Dave Davenport, from DOR, will be drafting. We will be sure to include that context in the final report. When I say we could put in the drafting principles that would of course be with some context attached to it.

Chairman Kaufman: Regarding the principles, there might be some confusion about how they were worded as an amendment to a recent bill in the House. I tried to edit the principles we agreed on at our last meeting down in the sense of brevity for the bill. To the extent that I did that and it aggravated people, I apologize. There was no intention to change what we have decided on and language can be added back in during conference committee.

Secretary Gonzalez: Now onto the second item I wanted to discuss today, if I just walk through each recommendation that I have written down on this piece of paper. Again, the intention is not to decide on these recommendations now, but on whether these are the right ones to guide us going forward.

The first one here is a recommendation to reduce the number of tax expenditures overall in the TEB. This is one that people might disagree on, but it comes from the guiding principle that our TEB should be simplified. What exactly that recommendation looks like, I think ... I am interested in other people's views... but I think it is unlikely that this commission will be

looking at every single tax expenditure and saying yes or no, because this commission does not have the data to do so. Rather, we want to have some recommended criteria so that the Legislature and Governor will be able to do that, go through one-by-one. Also this commission will work to make it possible for them to have the information they need to do this exercise.

Also we should be explicit that we are not making recommendations about what a reduction in the TEB means, whether it might also allow us to reduce tax rates across the board. If the Legislature decides to reduce the TEB it can then decide to reduce rates or invest in stuff. But that, again, is not what this commission is going to do. Our charge is to make recommendations around the TEB only. What are people's reactions on this subject and on whether to make a recommendation along these lines?

Chairman Kaufman: Absolutely, we should address this issue. This is one of the main reasons for this commission. Perhaps I would recommend putting in place a timeline on when the Governor should get this review done?

Al Gordon: I would also think about recommending prioritizing of some tax expenditures for more immediate review, assuming that it will not be possible to tackle them all immediately. I would advise that there be a recommendation for what should be prioritized.

Secretary Gonzalez: Any objection for these to be things we look at when making these recommendations?

### [None.]

Secretary Gonzalez: Next is to make distinction between the public policy purposes for tax expenditures. Right now our TEB is articulated on whether it's a tax break against the income tax, sales tax, or corporate tax, or in terms of whether it's a credit or deduction. I think we have talked in the past about whether it would be helpful to have the TEB articulated, instead, in terms of policy purposes. For instance, whether they are about job creation or ability to pay. I think it would be useful to go over the exercise of doing that. I am curious about whether you agree that this is something we should take on.

Auditor Bump: I agree. This could also help with the goal of prioritization.

Senator Knapik: I wonder if we're using a 2012 prism with things that were done 20 or 30 years ago. I wonder if, well certainly if we list things or chronologically date things as they come in... For example, maybe the purpose we attribute to a tax expenditure is not the same as the purpose that was contemplated in 1997, or whenever; it is not the same as now. I wonder if we can be objective in present terms.

Secretary Gonzalez: Going forward this is what we are hoping future policy makers won't have to guess at, why we want to include policy objectives now. In a sense, this would be a subjective exercise. We wouldn't know exactly what the policy was of a tax expenditure when they put it into law in 1930, but it would be a helpful exercise.

Senator Knapik: So, going forward, if the Legislature were to be considering a new tax expenditure, would we be thinking in a context of a more clearly defined vision of an outcome?

Chairman Kaufman: I think that is our goal and we should be modest in how we will achieve it. One of the problems of the TEB is that we haven't even tried to make those judgments at all. Going forward we might not make them perfectly, but it is a good idea to try.

Jim Stock: Since we are at a level of discussing what we should be discussing, I believe this is certainly something to consider. It seems as though it is very closely linked to your next item, on whether public policy purposes for tax expenditures are worth considering going forward.

Secretary Gonzalez: The difference between these two points is that #2 is meant to look at the current (past) TEB and come up with categories under which to categorize groups of tax expenditures, as opposed to going to each separate tax expenditure and finding a particular policy purpose. Point #3 is charging the Legislature and Governor with looking at both our current and future TEB and being clear in articulating what the purpose for each tax expenditure is. Whether of not, for example, the film tax credit is successful depends on what the underlying public policy purpose of that tax expenditure is. This is what #3 is about.

Auditor Bump: Jay, did you see #6 as being part of #3? It seems that one is looking towards the future and one is how it is?

Secretary Gonzalez: #6 is looking at the TEB into the future, but #3 is looking at the TEB as it currently stands. In light of our principles and other recommendations, looking at the TEB and whether it is going to be enacted, the Legislature and Governor should look to whether it conforms with these principles and goals.

Next, point #4 gets to the issue of transparency. There has been lots of discussion and I have gotten a lot of feedback from all of you about transparency. There might be some difference of opinion on the level of detail that should be provided. What I have proposed here is that we should make some recommendation on how transparency should work. The Commonwealth Performance, Accountability, and Transparency (CPAT) office is charged with performance management across the executive branch, as well as some other responsibilities. I believe this office being charged, along with DOR, to provide a report to the public, would be the right place to do this. If the Legislature articulates a public policy goal for each tax expenditure, CPAT can collect the data with DOR's help to measure the success of that goal and that tax expenditure. They can report on the effectiveness of the tax expenditure based on these metrics. We can talk about whether this is the right people and the right approach. This is all something this commission should decide and make recommendations on. It seems to me this is something we need to talk about.

Chairman Kaufman: I agree, and it would be helpful for the meeting where we discuss this particular recommendations if we all did some homework on this issue. Both the NCSL and PIRG have done a lot of work on this area that would be helpful to us.

Senator Clark: I don't mean to come back to this, but the timing of #3 and #4, I am not sure how we are to evaluate what to reduce and the timeline for it.

Jay: We should talk, when we have the discussion on recommendation #1, that's the kind of thing we should talk about. First about whether we should be recommending #1 at all.

Senator Clark: So, much depends on how we are defining what the TEB is.

Secretary Gonzalez: I think we have modified a bit what the definition currently is in the statute to be more expansive. We have opened it up a bit to include everything. As for what we are making recommendations on, we have expanded it to look at the most number of things we can.

Jim Stock: After going through the open checkbook process, I want to suggest what we take that as we move into this next process.

Secretary Gonzalez: In point #5 we have talked about the absence, to date, of any legislative review of existing tax expenditures. Some have talked about a standard review timeline, but there might be some problems with this, as we might want to treat some different tax expenditures differently in terms of review. But some level of review more than what we have been having, which is none, is certainly something we should talk about. Any objection?

(None)

Secretary Gonzalez: Point #6, which we briefly discussed, is about articulating the public policy purpose of each tax expenditure going forward. Is there any objection about looking into that?

# (None)

Secretary Gonzalez: Point #7 is about the issue of clawbacks. One of the impetuses for creating this commission was whether the entities that receive the benefit of these tax expenditures were being held accountable to the conditions under which these tax expenditures were put in place. Looking at the enforcement of this is something I believe we should consider and talk about. Any objection?

# (None)

Secretary Gonzalez: Is there anything else not on this list anyone believes we should talk about?

Senator Clark: What about the administration of tax expenditures?

Secretary Gonzalez: I believe that is covered in #7. Perhaps we should make clear that this one isn't just about enforcement, but also covers administration.

Chairman Kaufman: There are some examples, probably none better than our life sciences section, about how to do tax expenditures well. We might want to look at this and try to include these best practices in our recommendations as well. It might fit best when discussing #6.

Secretary Gonzalez: Yes, agreed.

Jim Stock: I found it helpful to think about these recommendations in a different framework; which might be helpful for everyone. I thought about them as fitting into 3 categories: (1) For the current TEB there are many categorizations and we could talk about how/whether to limit them, (2) for potential future tax expenditures there is thinking about process, then (3) there is the third rail on existing tax expenditures, to describe their merits.

Secretary Gonzalez: After thinking about how these recommendations fit together, I want to discuss which ones of these it makes sense to take up in conjunction. And I believe your categorizations might come in very handy there, in deciding which ones of these to take up together. I am hoping to develop a work plan within a few days of today on the framework within which to take up these priorities in our upcoming sessions.

Are there any other additions?

Al Gordon: Nothing else to add, but it would be helpful if, for these packets or frameworks that you will be putting together, could there also be included some legal background on relevant issues, such as around the issue of transparency and privacy, or contractual obligations? I believe this should also be part of the briefing materials.

Secretary Gonzalez: Also, I should point out, if there are elements which you believe there is information you believe could be useful, I would invite you to send them our way and we will do our best to include them.

If there are no other comments, we will adjourn until next time.

## Tax Expenditure Commission Report: Outline – Draft 3/6/12

- A. Executive Summary
- B. Introduction
  - 1. Legislative mandate
  - 2. Members/staff
  - 3. History/meetings (reference minutes in Appendix)
- C. Facts regarding the Commonwealth's Tax Expenditure Budget
  - 1. Definition of TEB (with related comments/context from TEC meeting where discussed)
  - 2. High-level description of Commonwealth TEB (reference to Appendix and website for all details/data developed by DOR)
  - 3. Relevant comparisons to other states based on best info available
    - i. Data publicly available and disclosed
    - ii. Substance of TEs
- D. Findings of TEC Based on Facts re: TEB
  - 1. TEB too complicated, too big exceptions the rule rather than the exception
  - 2. Lack of adequate, publicly available info to understand purpose and effectiveness
  - 3. Lack of comprehensive framework and approach to TEs
  - 4. Lack of regular review of effectiveness of TEs
  - 5. Lack of adequate tools to enforce commitments made and/or other eligibility criteria in return for receipt of certain tax breaks
  - 6. [OTHER???]
- E. Guiding Principles for Commonwealth's Development, Management and Review of TEB
  - 1. [INSERT GUIDING PRINCIPLES ADOPTED BY COMMISSION WITH RELEVANT CONTEXT DISCUSSED AT THE MEETING WHERE PRINCIPLES WERE ADOPTED]
- F. Recommendations of the TEC
  - 1. Recommend Legislature and Governor work together to reduce number of TEs and size of TEB
    - i. Recommended criteria and possible approaches (based on guiding principles, but more detailed)
    - ii. Reduction in size of TEB provides opportunity to reduce tax rates paid by everyone TEC expressly not making recommendations on extent to which

revenue resulting from elimination of TEBs should be used to reduce rates – outside of scope of TEC and policy decision for Legislature and Governor to determine

- 2. Recommend public policy purpose categories for TEs to help articulate TEB in a more helpful way for policymakers and the public and to help make distinctions between categories of TEs for purposes of level/frequency of review, enforcement mechanisms, etc. (e.g., job-creation credits to particular companies need high-level of review/enforcement mechanisms; fairness/progressivity credits need less frequent review and no enforcement mechanisms)
- 3. Recommend Legislature and Governor work together to statutorily identify and publish for each TE that remains a clearly articulated public policy purpose and desired outcome
- 4. Recommend our Commonwealth Performance, Accountability, and Transparency (CPAT) office, working with DOR, identify metrics for assessing effectiveness of TEs at achieving statutorily identified purposes and outcomes; collect the data necessary based on such metrics; annually report such data to the Governor, Legislature and public in a manner that allows for assessment of effectiveness of TEs; and, with such report, make any recommendations for elimination/modification of any TEs to more effectively achieve public policy purpose
  - i. Identify all data that should be reported for different categories of TEs
- 5. Recommend periodic review of TEs by Legislature based on annual CPAT reports
  - i. TE sunsets? Certain categories of TEs only? Only requirement to review, with no sunsets?
- 6. Recommend criteria and findings Legislature and Governor should make before approving any new TE
- 7. Recommend enforcement mechanisms for appropriate categories of TEs to ensure accountability
  - i. E.g., clawbacks
- 8. [OTHER???]

### APPENDICES

- A. TEC Commission Meeting Agenda and Minutes
- B. Data re: MA Tax Expenditure Budget
- C. [OTHER??]

Tax Expenditure Commission Meeting Comptroller's Office March 21, 2012

Members in Attendance

Jay Gonzalez, Secretary of Administration & Finance, Chair of Tax Expenditure Commission Robb Smith, Designee of Auditor Suzanne Bump Al Gordon,Designee of Treasurer Steven Grossman Senator MichaelKnapik, Designee of Senate Minority Leader Bruce Tarr Rep. Steven Levy, Designee of House Minority Leader Bradley Jones Senator Katherine Clark, Senate Chair, Joint Committee on Revenue Representative Jay Kaufman, House Chair, Joint Committee on Revenue Jim Stock, Member of Governor's Council of Economic Advisers Alan Clayton-Matthews, Member of Governor's Council of Economic Advisors Jennifer Saubermann, Designee of Sen. Stephen Brewer, Chair of Senate Ways and Means Committee Representative Stephen Kulik, Vice Chair, House Ways and Means Committee, Designee of Chairman

Others in Attendance

Kazim Ozyurt, Director, Office of Tax Policy Analysis, Department of Revenue

### Minutes

The motion to approve the minutes from the previous meeting is accepted.

Secretary Gonzalez:This session is to discuss the categories and purposes of thetax expenditures. Item number two from the outline is for us to articulate the policy categories of tax expenditures. We recommend a categorization of existing tax expenditures with the goal of helping the public to understand the public purpose of tax expenditures. In doing so, we should consider what theLegislature is trying to achieve by creating the tax expenditure. The goal here is not to describe the specific purpose of every tax expenditure, using, for example, "investment tax credit." Instead, it would be helpful to categorize the tax expenditures broadlyby purpose, for example, economic competitiveness or encouraging business investment in MA. Broad categorization of policy purposes of tax expenditures will enable the public and others to understand whywe make certain tax exemptions. Item number three of the recommendations is to establish a process for determining desired outcomes for every tax expenditure.DOR has made an initial cut for every tax expenditure and what a proposed categorization of those would be.

The commission recommends that the Legislature and Governor work together to create a process to identify a specific policy purpose and outcome for every tax expenditure. There is a modified proposal in the handout similar to the consensus tax revenue forecast. The Office of Commonwealth Performance, Accountability and Transparency, the Department of Revenue, the Administration & Finance, stakeholders and the Governor's office should recommend policy purposes and desired outcomes of tax expenditures. Then the Joint Committee on Revenue and

the Ways and Means committees should review the outcomes and purposes. After this review, these two committees and Administration & Finance should reach a consensus about the outcomes and purposes of the tax expenditures.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: I have a different picture of the process. What's anticipated in the paragraph is a huge job for the first year but not much of a job thereafter. We should have some kind of notion as to the limits of the tax expenditure budget.

Secretary Gonzalez: I think describing this as similar to consensus tax revenue process is confusing. This is a one-time process. The purpose of this recommendation is to articulate the purposes and outcomes for every tax expenditure. We should omit language about following procedures for the tax consensus revenue process because this process is not annual.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: I'd imagine that this would require a large number of lengthy hearings, thus the revenue committee would be the appropriate place to hold the hearings.

Representative Kulik: I could envision a joint process between the Revenue Committee and Ways and Means.

Secretary Gonzalez: We don't have a deadline stated here, but we could think about recommending one.

Senator Knapik:Unlike the consensus revenue figure, review of the tax expenditure budget could look different. How do we model the consensus number, is there a way the two meet? Is periodic review of our stated purposes of tax expenditures necessary?

Secretary Gonzalez: We agree on the purposes of tax expenditures, that's why it's conceived to be a one-time process. We'll discuss regular review of purposes at the next meeting.

Robb Smith: I support this framework. It would be helpful if the Governor's council of economic advisors and people who evaluate economic programs reviewed our determinations to ensure we are using the right terms to quantify data properly and get predictable results. Also, the process should be reviewed to ensure that policy makers and the public can understand our work.

Secretary Gonzalez: I'd like to make two changes to the proposal. Delete "remaining" on the second line, and delete the first clause beginning with "following" on the seventh line so that it starts with "Ways and Means." As far as establishing a deadline by which to complete this process, I think we should wait to decide that after more discussion.

The motion to adopt the amendments passes.

Secretary Gonzalez:Now to discuss the second recommendation, I'll let the Department of Revenue give us a summary of its summary.

KazimOzyurt: This was our first shot at defining public policy purpose categories for tax expenditures. Our definitions of expenditure items are based on a reading of statute. We created seventy-two categories of purposes. Some tax expenditures may have double purposes, and some may not be uniform. The categories are subject to change. "Basic necessities" is one example of a category. Things like food and clothing would fall into this category. "Economic competitiveness" is another one, including unequal weighting of sales and payroll, job creation,

and film industry job creation.Item number twenty-three, for example, could include tax expenditurestargeted to research and development or investment in technology, as well as special treatment of "S" corporations. Another category includes "promoting family," which would include deductions for dependents and child care expenses. We also have a category for tax expenditures that protect the environment. For example, the septic system repair credit and the conservation land credit.

Secretary Gonzalez: It's hard to know exactly what the Legislature thought in making these expenditure items. To create these broad categories, it helps from a policy perspective to think about what we're trying to do when we make these tax expenditures. Thinking about the purposes of the tax expenditures will also help the public discusstax expenditures. We need many fewer categories, perhaps ten, to achieve this high level process. For example, an exemption for electricity– assign this to economic competiveness rather than two categories. Economic competiveness works well as a category. Structural tax code policy is good too to encompass many types of exemptions. Is "basic necessities" broad enough as a category? Also, it may be helpful, within economic competitiveness, to distinguish between generally applicable corporate and sales tax, and then a category that includes exemptions targeted to particular industries and jobs.

Alan Clayton-Matthews: I see two dimensions in our tax expenditure categories rather than one. Under the first dimension, there are three economic categories.

1. Redistribution, such as exemptions for sales tax and groceries.

Allocation, such as exemptions that further an economic goal. I would separate this into two subcategories. The first subcategory being problems with externalities, or market failures, which would include, for example, a credit for green energy, the social cost of polluting the atmosphere, or a credit for pre-school-to-higher education funding, so people can obtain resources to become educated where otherwise they couldn't if it were left to the market. The second subcategory would be economic competitiveness.
Efficiency.Tax expenditures in this category are meant to address inefficiencies caused by the way things are taxed, such as avoiding double taxation.

The other dimension is to identify intended beneficiaries of the tax expenditures. For example, to help households with school aged children or specifically targeting startup scientific firms.

Secretary Gonzalez: What does the group think about identifying the intended beneficiaries?

Jim Stock: This concept makes a lot of sense. Some of these are technical issues to avoid double taxation. This should be separated out as a third broad category.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: Alan's detail is good. The advantage to having more general categories is that it would help legislators make judgment calls. I don't want to lose Kazim's work, though.

Alan Clayton-Matthews: Many of these categories are economic competitiveness/"something," whether that something is "agricultural" or "broadcasting."

Secretary Gonzalez: Is there any disagreement with the suggestion to omit some of the broad categories?

Chairman Jay Kaufman: No, but I don't want to lose these subcategories.

Secretary Gonzalez: Perhaps the economic categories will be headings at a higher level than the policy categories.

Senator Knapik: I think we should keep these categories in laymen's terms because we aren't economists and other people who are helping to craft this policy aren't economists. We could categorize the tax expenditureschronologically. Simpler terms would be better.

Al Gordon: The concept of ten to twelve broad categories would make it more accessible, and I envision the economic categories under these, and then specific examples within the economic categories. This organization would make it easier to understand.

Jim Stock: For me, five categories summarize this.

- 1. Redistribution, for example, exemptions for food and clothing.
- 2. Economic competition.
- 3. Market failures or externalities, such as loans.
- 4. No double taxation.
- 5. Other, because some are pretty obscure and difficult to fit in any category.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: It will take trial and error to determine correct categories. We shouldn't invent these by committee.

Secretary Gonzalez: The problem with the category term "redistribution" is that it suggests someone is taking money from someone else. We should take into account a person's ability to pay based on his financial position.

(Several attendees agree that "fairness" would be a good term to replace "redistribution").

Secretary Gonzalez: We should also choose a different name for the "market failure" category. Maybe "market objectives," or "market realities?"We don't have categories that the average person or policy maker would understand.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: Do the categories from '91 make sense today? They are "commerce," "income security, ""infrastructure, ""environment," etc.

Secretary Gonzalez: No, those don't make sense.

(Most attendees agree that the categories from 1991 do not make sense).

Senator Clark: It's important to think about when the tax expenditure was created. What was the government trying to do in 1936 when it created that tax expenditure?

Secretary Gonzalez: At the next meeting, we'll discuss regular reporting on tax expenditures. Perhaps we should discuss that there.

Representative Levy: We should use "socioeconomic" instead of redistribution.

SenatorKnapik: Where do we put the Veterans' tax expenditure?

Alan Clayton-Matthews: It is redistribution, technically, from one taxpayer to another. Is "fairness" a better name?

Senator Knapik: What's the best word or phrase?

Jim Stock: "Transfer" perhaps, because technically it is a transfer, from one taxpayer to another, which might be perfectly justified.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: It's good to clarify our large tax expenditure budget of \$26 Billion. There's no right way to do this. It would be useful to reduce the category of services. NCSL has done comparisons of what states are taxing which services, and we need such data. This is a large category of untaxed stuff.

Secretary Gonzalez: We'll figure something out and get it to you guys to think about, so we can decide later.

Representative Kulik: I agree with Jay. The process to figure out what you're doing by giving tax expenditures is hard, so we need to clarify our goals. This will help very much in performance management, a priority of the Governor. In turn, this will help us thereby discern whether we're accomplishing our goals for the public.

Secretary Gonzalez: Ournext meeting will be next Tuesday. This meeting is adjourned.

Tax Expenditure Commission Meeting Comptroller's Office March 27, 2012

Members in Attendance Jay Gonzalez, Secretary of Administration & Finance, Chair of Tax Expenditure Commission Auditor Suzanne Bump Al Gordon, Designee of Treasurer Steven Grossman Senator Michael Knapik, Designee of Senate Minority Leader Bruce Tarr Rep. Steven Levy, Designee of House Minority Leader Bradley Jones Senator Katherine Clark, Senate Chair, Joint Committee on Revenue Representative Jay Kaufman, House Chair, Joint Committee on Revenue Alan Clayton-Matthews, Member of Governor's Council of Economic Advisors Jennifer Saubermann, Designee of Sen. Stephen Brewer, Chair of Senate Ways and Means Committee Representative Stephen Kulik, Vice Chair, House Ways and Means Committee, Designee of Chairman

#### Others in Attendance

Maureen Flynn, General Counsel, Executive Office of Housing and Economic Development Bradley Rosenblum, Chief Financial Officer, Massachusetts Life Sciences Center

#### **Minutes**

The motion to accept the Minutes from the March 21, 2012 meeting is approved.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: On the recommendation to assign categories, we have a revamped version of categories based on our previous discussion. We will vote on the revised list at the next meeting because we need all the time allotted for this meeting. We have three recommendations to discuss and perhaps vote on today.First, we will discuss regular reporting on tax expenditures, then we will discuss the extent and manner in which the Legislature should review the tax expenditure budget, and I have a slightly revised version of the third recommendation.

We have two visitors who will brief us on their tax expenditures. We have members of the Economic Development Incentive Program ("EDIP") and the Life Sciences Center to brief us on how their tax expenditures work. The tax expenditure Commission should understand how these tax expenditures work.

Maureen Flynn: I am the General Counsel for the Executive office of Housing and Economic Development, which administers the EDIP program. (Ms. Flynn distributes handouts about the changes in the EDIP Investment Tax Credit ("ITC").)I'll go over information on changes to the program after giving an overview of the program. The program is a competitive award program that awards tax incremental finance credits ("TIFs"), and ITCs. We divide the Commonwealth

into Economic Target Areas("ETAs") – areas that have(1) a high unemployment rate and (2) low rates of education or high poverty rates – and thus need economic development. Before the 2009 changes to the program, the Economic Assistance Coordinating Council ("EACC") did not have discretion about how much to award the projects. They awarded a flat 5% ITC. In 2009, we made the program more accountable and more competitive. We expanded the types of projects that the EEAC could approve. Companies need not be located in an ETA any longer to qualify for the credit. Now, if a company presents a great opportunity to create jobs in the Commonwealth, a tax creditunder the program could move forward. Our third type of project, Manufacturing Retention Projects ("MRPs"), is availableonly in gateway municipalities, and allows companies to create and retain jobs. This type of project allows EEAC to award a tax credit based on what it saw the company needed and what the company believed it needed – a discretionary amount.EEAC may award up to a 10% tax credit for the Enhanced Expansion Project ("EEP") and up to a 40% tax credit for the MRP. EEACcould also allow a range of time for the recipient to receive the award. A&F liked that we instituted a cap on the program.

We believe the 2009 changes have improved the program greatly. Since then, we've approved 87 projects -30 are TIFs, the other 57 are ITCs. The companies we have awarded have created over 5,000 jobs and retained 16,000 jobs and received \$2.7 billion in private investment. We have also decertified 130 projects since the changes were instituted. The accountability aspect of the program seems to be working.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: Talk to us about the advantages of making it a competitive process.

Maureen Flynn: The advantages of the competitive processare that it allows us discretion to choose projects depending on what's needed in which sector and in which locations based on the Commonwealth's need. We modeled some of our tax credits on the Life Sciences program because it was competitive.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: In the area of transparency, are the companies that receive tax credits publicly disclosed?

Maureen Flynn: Yes, we post the awards after each meeting. We want the tax money to be used in the best possible way.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: What are your thoughts on the pros and cons on the transferability of tax credits?

Maureen Flynn: No one used the Brownfields tax credit when it wasn't transferable. It shouldn't be to anyone's huge advantage to transfer, but it is important for the tax credit to be transferable for the tax credit to be used.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: Should we do periodic review of the tax credits, and what are your thoughts on sunsets?

Maureen Flynn: We haven't talked about sunsets, but we review the program continually. We ask how we can make it better and clearer for our constituents.

Senator Clark: What is the process for evaluating the program?

Maureen Flynn:We use internal reviews and feedback. We wanted the programs to be more useful and get only the money that is needed to the recipients.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: Secretary Bialeckideserves lots of credit. He has very limited resources to help create economic development. He has not had a big bucket of money to try to incentivize and support economicdevelopment. He is the one who saw the lack of options to incentivize. He wanted to invest limited funds to improve incentivizing economic development through the tax credit. It's a great example of what we should be doing across state government. These tax expenditures are like grants in a lot of ways, and we need to structure this program to get the best results for our expenditures. This is a great example of a best practice.

Maureen Flynn: We review the projects that are awarded every two years.

Alan Clayton-Matthews: Do you run up to the \$25 million limit each year.

Maureen Flynn: Yes. We try to work with companies whether they apply or not. We can sometimes award more than \$25 million in a year, but the companies won't take more than \$25 million in one year.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: DOR and ANF review the awards to ensure that the budgetary hit will not exceed \$25 million in one year.

Alan Clayton-Matthews: Because awards are limited, and more companies may want to use them, there's an opportunity to study companies to see what happens when a company is not awarded *vis a vis* a company that is awarded to see how effective the program is.

Suzanne Bump: How do you audit compliance?

Maureen Flynn: Companies must report to us and send us a form that we fill out. Compliance examines whether the companies have performed adequately versus their application from two years prior. If there is a disparity, the company must respond and account for it. If the company does not respond, it must have a hearing. The EACC hears the company's evidence and decides whether to decertify it. Most companies take advantage of the hearings.

Decertification does not enable EACC to get old tax credits back if the company did not perform adequately. We try to balance the need to respond to compliance while not taking too much of one of their employee's time.

Senator Knapik: At what point in the year do you run out of money?

Maureen Flynn: We haven't faced that issue. We ensure the companies only take \$25 million. The new 2009 version of the program requires companies to generate sales outside of Massachusetts to make sure we give money to companies that expand outside the state.

Senator Knapik:Do you take into account the regional needs of parts of Massachusetts?

Maureen Flynn: Yes, but for example, in some quarters we might not have companies from areas of western Massachusetts.

Secretary Jay Gonzales: Thank you very much Maureen. I'd like to introduce Brad from the Life Sciences Center. He is the CFO, and I am one of two co-chairs of the Life Sciences Center. I've worked with him since 2008. It's another best practice type program.

BradleyRosenblum:I'll give everyone an overview of the program and our accountability processes.We have 10 different incentives, and 4 are refundable. We hold info sessions, and companies fill out a 45 question application. The Center will review the applications to determine to which companies to award a tax credit. The centerpiece of our tax credit program is job commitment. We have a clawback provision that says that if a company doesn't achieve 70% of its commitment, the Center will investigate and present the facts to the investment committee. There will be one of two outcomes. The committee can give the company a 1 year extension with the commitment threshold raised to 80%, which the company must meet or else it will be decertified. The other outcome is to decertify the company if it has given no confidence that it will be able to achieve its commitment. The committee will provide reasons why it provides an extension if it does so. The Center works with DOR with this process to ensure that the Center works with upstanding companies. Then, the Secretariesof ANF and DOR approve the awards. Our board then makes the awards public, specifying the companies that were awarded.

Decertification means we notify DOR, and then they can retrieve any credit awarded. We have developed policies to deal with companies that don't reach their 70% commitments. About 13 companies have terminated their awards because they knew they would not hit their commitments. Only one company has been decertified. Decertification comes with a lifetime ban from receiving other awards from the Center. In other words, people take our program very seriously. If a company is acquired, the parent company must retain the responsibilities of its subsidiary. As an incentive, a company must achieve 90% of its commitment if it wants another award.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: Brad has overseen the development and implementation of the tax credit program. He's done a great job with creating something from scratch. He was the first to develop the administration of a program like this. He's done a wonderful job of implementing it as he intended to --to get results and accountability.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: This has empowered our conversation very much. Is the competiveness of the project part of its effectiveness?

Bradley Rosenblum: Yes.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: What are your thoughts on sunset and periodic review?

Bradley Rosenblum: We have had no discussion on these issues. Our program ends in 2018.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: What are yourgut instincts on transferability?

Bradley Rosenblum: We don't allow transferability.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: This has been a helpful context for our discussion. I'll pass around the revised outline that we sent by e-mail. Changes reflect some comments that we got from you and others. We redlined the copy to show the edits. The first recommendation is that the Commonwealth Performance, Accountability, and Transparency office should work with DOR to identify metrics for assessing the effectiveness of tax expenditures at achieving the identified purposes and outcomes, for example, the number of jobs created. (Secretary Gonzalez reads the remainder of the first section of the outline.) This is the framework I'm proposing for the starting point of our discussion.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: I apologize for jumping in so quickly, but I'm about to bubble –over because this has been a topic I've been interested in discussing for some time. I have a suggested change to the section. At the second to bottom bullet, I'd propose the word "policies" instead of the word "burden" because the term "burden" is often used in political debate to reflect negative aspects of taxation as opposed to a neutral term.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: Would"obligations" be a better term?

Chairman Jay Kaufman: I'm not sure where this goes in the outline. It seems that the correction is to have us do our analysis of tax obligations relative to what other states are doing. Does it make any sense for us to call on the governor to start a national conversation about what tax credit policies can affect things across state lines?

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: Part of the issue all states have is the competition among each other, a race to the bottom. Maybe there are some best practices to think about nationally. Type up a proposal for us to consider later.

Al Gordon: On the tax obligations clause, we thought about focusing on comparable states. Some competitive states, for example, Alaska, would have a low tax burden that's not relevant here. Secretary Jay Gonzalez: I'd suggest that it be a comprehensive report looking at all 50 states, to provide anyone with any information they might need as to which states are competitive for different purposes.

Alan Clayton-Matthews: We could identify studies conducted as to other tax credits' effectiveness regarding how well they meet their agenda. We could perhaps use work that's already been done to answer whether a tax expenditure is effective. That's different than just keeping track of tax expenditures. It's proactive to try to achieve efficiency.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: Maybethis is related to the last bullet. Maybe it's based on data they've collected and reported and other research they've deemed helpful.

Suzanne Bump: Included in another part of our discussion, would DOR collect such resources?

Alan Clayton-Matthews: As another suggestion – already stated here --I want to stress that we should include in those metrics the outcomes of the firms that didn't receive particular tax expenditure awards, for example, examples from the Life Sciences program. We could learn a lot by seeing what happened to companies that didn't get awards.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: I understand the point about it, and it's a hard test to know whether a company that didn't receive an award would have done better. It's not a perfect comparison. I worry about taking on more work than we can reasonably do. What I'd ask is that we can think about that and maybe not get too specific.

Senator Clark: When looking at identifying metrics, are you anticipating that the office will be limited to what we ultimately decide on. We don't really talk about job creation.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: At the last meeting, we discussed a high level way to articulate the tax expenditure budget and also adopted a recommendation to require a process through which the Legislature and Governor would identify purposes and outcomes for every tax expenditure, so we're developing metrics based on that.

Senator Knapik: It was a good example to use these two agencies here today. How do you use this recommendation as an exercise to structure incentives for programs and entities from, say 1993? How do we propose finding the public purpose of such exemptions, when we aren't sure why they were implemented? It's an important prospective discussion, but what can we do for a retrospective discussion?

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: We are looking at the existing tax expenditure budget. We have a recommendation to do our best. Identifying public purposes and desired outcomes of every tax expenditure will be imperfect. Tax credits on parsonages, for example, we will decide collectively, to be supportive of religions, for example. It might not be what it was at the time, and a metric for that would be relatively simple and it would not tell us as well how effective the tax expenditure is versus a prospective tax expenditure, but we can inform the public. At the

EDIP program, there are a lot of projects with clear purposes, and metrics there would enable us to rethink the effectiveness of tax expenditures and get good results.

Sometimes there are tax expenditures that made sense then but not today. Are thereany comments on this recommendation? Generally people feel comfortable with this. Any other comments before we vote?

The motion to accept the first section of the outline is approved unanimously.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: (The Secretary reads the second section of the outline.) The main point is that going forward,the Legislature should look at the reports we generate to see if our analysis needs modification. Some tax expenditures are like appropriations;the Life Sciences tax credits are examples of that. These will be subject to public disclosure of the recipients. On the handout, discretionary awards are under category "A." The other three occur as an operation of law.

For the tax credits that function as an appropriation, they should sunset after 5 years. The Legislature would have to affirmatively reestablish the program if it sunsets and require someone to argue before the Legislature to renew program. Special benefit would be given to the other three. These would require review every 5 years, consideration of whether it was an intentional credit –a deliberate, helpful review. At least every ten years, the Legislature should look at the tax expenditure budget based on all these reports. This is an intentional time period because predictability in the tax code is important, but not at the expense of ensuring that we get the results we want to get. This is my first attempt at a construct that makes sense to me.

Bialecki is in agreement with this. Does everyone like it and want to vote on it?

Senator Clark:With the discretionally awarded grant money, are we trying to be restrictive with what we want to sunset?

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: What I'm proposing is to be prescriptive about sunsetting with these and with any other later that works in the same way as a discretionary tax credit.

Al Gordon: But you're not proposing this for the tax credits in category "B"?

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: Correct. "B" is an automatic tax credit to help industry in Massachusettsto make us more competitive. Because it's clear that we're weighing in to support particular credit for an industry, these credits should require a more extensive review of how effective they are – every 5 years by the Legislature.

Senator Clark: Just hearing about how effective the Life Sciences Center has been, the Legislature decided to give it a 10 year sunset. Are we changing policy by saying they should review a tax creditevery 5 years or sunset them after 5 years?

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: We could not propose a particular number of years when sunsets should occur for each tax expenditure, but it's not unreasonable that 5 years sounds like a good amount of time to assess the effectiveness of each tax expenditure.

Suzanne Bump: Also, these are recommendationsbroadly going forward, not law.

Representative Stephen Kulik: If a tax credit on the books is not on this list, does that mean there's no disclosure?

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: Yes. The original version suggested a sunset for all 11 tax expenditures, but my own thinking on this is that the ones that act like appropriations, these are the ones that it makes sense to sunset. I wanted to be clear on this suggested change. There are many other tax expenditures that relate to specific industries that would fall into category "B." I'm not suggesting that these sunset automatically, but we should be evaluating the tax expenditures' effectiveness.

Al Gordon: Thank you and your staff for developing a more flexible formula than the original one, but there's a significant change in the proposal. I want to defer the vote on this until the next meeting because these changes are different enough that I would like to discuss them with the treasurer before a vote.

The motion to table the recommendation until next week's meeting passes.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: We have just a few minutes to discuss the last recommendation on the back of the page. The way I've proposed framing this only applies to those tax expenditures that are awarded like grants. Because in those instances and other instances where things happen by operation of law, eligibility is dictated by statute, if we don't like how they qualify, we need to change the statute. If we want to take back the tax credit, we need to articulate clearly why we are doing that.

Suzanne Bump: The last point I feelneeds further clarification.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: If there are no other comments, is there a motion to vote or table this until the next meeting?

The motion to table the vote until the next meeting passes unanimously.

At the next meeting, we'll take up the last two recommendations to vote. There's no other business. We are adjourned for the day.

<u>Tax Expenditure Commission Meeting</u> Comptroller's Office April 3, 2012

#### Members in Attendance

Jay Gonzalez, Secretary of Administration & Finance, Chair of Tax Expenditure Commission Auditor Suzanne Bump Kathryn Burton, Designee of Treasurer Steven Grossman Senator Michael Knapik, Designee of Senate Minority Leader Bruce Tarr Representative Steven Levy, Designee of House Minority Leader Bradley Jones Senator Katherine Clark, Senate Chair, Joint Committee on Revenue Representative Jay Kaufman, House Chair, Joint Committee on Revenue Jim Stock, Member of Governor's Council of Economic Advisors Jennifer Saubermann, Designee of Sen. Stephen Brewer, Chair of Senate Ways and Means Committee Representative Stephen Kulik, Vice Chair, House Ways and Means Committee, Designee of Chairman Brian Dempsey

#### **Minutes**

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: I want to call the meeting toorder. Today we have a hefty agenda.

(The motion to accept the minutes from the previous week's meeting passes unanimously.)

The agenda today is to quickly take up three votes from the previous meetings. One vote is on a revised approach of assigning tax expenditures to existing categories. Based on feedback, we tried to simplify the categorization and developed five categories. Another agenda item is recommendation five from the outline that relates to periodic reviewof tax expenditures by the Legislature. We will also vote on the enforcement of certain types of tax expenditures. I'm hoping to have quick votes on these items. Then we have three additional proposed recommendation suggests that the Governor and Legislature include the tax expenditures'public policies and desired outcomes in a formal legislative proposal. Third, the outline proposesa recommendation related to working with other states and organizations to assess best practices.

I have some updates that are relative to one of the items:sunsetting. Michael Widmersent an e-mail to express concern about sunsetting. I spoke with him and told him we discussed sunsetting regarding grant-like tax expenditures. He understood that we aren't impacting most of the tax expenditures, and that made him more comfortable. I also had a meeting with the Public Affairs Council of Associated Industries of Massachusetts. I got a letter from them thatdescribes what we discussed in our last meeting. They appreciated our discussion and were mindful that we recognized the need to obtain predictability and efficiency in the tax expenditure budget.

You have a copy of a document that says outline four, five and seven. We voted on recommendation four at the last meeting. At the second bullet at the bottom of page – the recommendation about categorization – if people are comfortable with this approach I'd accept a

motion to approve this proposed categorization. We should flesh out what these five categories mean.

(The motion to approve the proposed categorization passes unanimously.)

At the bottom of the first page we have recommendation five on the outline, which we discussed at length at the last meeting. This section reflects the feedback from the last meeting. We would be voting to adopt this in its form substantially. (Secretary Gonzalez reads this section of the outline, which calls for the Legislature periodically to review all tax expenditures based on CPAT reports.)

There are three categories of tax credit in this section. This section would force people like Greg Bialecki to say "here's the effectiveness of this tax expenditure." There's no predictability consequence because business would know when the sunset would occur. There are discretionarily awarded grant-like tax expenditures, there are tax credits intended to benefit a specific industry, and there are tax credits that people obtain via operation of law.

Suzanne Bump: I want to see if others are sure – my observation that the second main bullet seems to be in conflict with, I have confusion with the last sub-bullet from the first section. CPAT will do an annual elimination and modification of tax expenditures, but in the next bullet we will take up specific review based on the type of tax expenditure it is. Is this inconsistent?

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: I don't think so because we're talking about annual reports from DOR regarding the CPAT determinations.

Suzanne Bump:I'd suggest that the section read that its recommendations will occur on the same schedule as the Legislature's periodic review.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: That makes sense.Let the minutes reflect that that recommendation will occur on the same schedule as the Legislature's review.

(The motion to approve this edit passes unanimously.)

On the second page, there is the last recommendation that we deferred to vote on during this meeting. We categorized some tax expenditures as discretionary grant-like tax expenditures. This recommendation was largely informed by the Life Sciences Center's experience from the last meeting.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: A couple of the best practices we talked about last week included identifying the recipients and requiring a competitive process. Should we include those in the outline?

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: Should we be specifying that there be a competitive process for the discretionary tax expenditures? I don't disagree with the intent that these programs should be competitive. Is there any objection to this?

Sen. Knapik: Would the dairy farmer tax credit be one of these? That's not really competitive – don't all dairy farmers get that tax credit?

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: If that's the case then it shouldn't be on the top of the list. These are programs that people aren't entitled to as a matter of law. They will involve a competitive process. The dairy farmer doesn't fall within this category because it's not a grant-like tax expenditure.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: We should make very clear that we're talking about discretionary grants in this section.

Suzanne Bump: Is this not redundant – in recommendations one and sixthe second bullet has all kinds of requirements for new programs.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: Recommendationsix is about the recommended process whenever a new tax expenditure is being considered. This discussion relates to existing tax expenditures. For example, we would be saying that an existing tax expenditure that's discretionary should be subject to enforcement mechanisms and review.

Suzanne Bump: I have a hard time reconciling what you're saying and what the outline says.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: What if we said new enforcement mechanisms for existing tax expenditures. I think they're written to cover different situations – six relates to new tax expenditures.

Sen. Clark: I think the word "existing" helps.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: Chairman, do you want to make a motion to amend to be clear about that?

Chairman Jay Kaufman: We accept the proposed language and reference to competitiveness and public disclosure for discretionary grant programs.

Sen.Clark: With the language about the identity of the beneficiary, how does that work with the confidence?

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: The reference in it says that this recommendation applies to discretionary tax expenditures. Current law requires public disclosure so this recommendation wouldn't be requiring any new action. There's no harm in leaving this language in.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: It's important that the transparency and competitiveness be articulated.

Sen. Knapik: Are they all competitive – is the film tax credit competitive?

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: No this applies only to discretionary grant-like credits. The film tax credit would fall into the second category -- it benefits a specific industry.

(The motion to accept the Chairman's proposal passes unanimously.)

Let's turn to the third page of the handout. We start with first main bullet. (The Secretary reads the bullet.)In the second part, what I intended by this is that we have many different tax expenditures that are about fairness or capacity to pay. Maybe the Governor and the Legislature could think about opportunities to get rid of 30 of these tax expenditures and replace them with, perhaps, one more targeted tax expenditure to address people's abilities to

pay. In the economic competitiveness category, maybe there's a more effective and simpler way to achieve that outcome. This is one way to reduce the tax expenditure budget. The third area is the way in which Massachusetts is an outlier among the states as far as where we stand on our relative tax burden. Maybe areas where we are in a different place from other states are good areas where we could reduce the tax expenditure budget. The Tax Expenditure Commission is not recommending whether lowering the tax expenditure budget should reduce the tax rates as an effect. That is beyond the scope of our role; that's forthe Governor and Legislature.

Jim Stock: On the final bullet -- does scope need to be in the preamble?

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: In this particular recommendation, talking about the Governor and the Legislature reducing the number of tax expenditures, I think it doesn't hurt to reiterate it.

Sen. Knapik: I wondered whether it was necessary as well. Sounds more like a statement of purpose versus a specific course of action.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: Do people feel comfortable with that? We should be explicit about the scope issue, but if you would prefer it be in the preamble...

Rep. Levy: I'd prefer it stay in.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: We'll take avote on whether the statement of scope should be a part of this recommendation.

Jim Stock: I don't have a strong view, just an expositional point. I understand why others would want to have this point reiterated.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: If there's no further discussion, we will vote to adopt the language as it stands.

(The motion passes unanimously.)

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: Let's move to the bullet in the middle of the page about newly proposed tax expenditures. (The Secretary reads the bullet.) Differently from what this page says, we could add"for grant-like tax expenditures" before"provisions for specific enforcement mechanisms." Is there any discussion about this?

Chairman Jay Kaufman: I have the same comments as earlier; add language about the transparency and competitiveness of the tax expenditures, either under that bullet or in a separate one. It's important that we articulate those best practices moving forward.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: Are there any further comments?

(Rep. Kulik arrives.)

We have been extremely speedy this morning.

Suzanne Bump: Having been on both sides of this operation – figuring out how to administer legislation – I'm shrinking from the idea that the Legislature should dictate the criteria to award discretionary tax expenditures. The Legislature can't possibly anticipate all the factors that will arise.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: I think it's a good point, and we should think about how this is written. The Legislature couldn't possibly articulate all the criteria in administering the program. For example, the Life Sciences credit says there should be a jobs commitment that is part of the condition on which clawbacks are determined. The Legislature determined that people should only get the Life Sciences credit if people are getting jobs. I'm thinking that the Legislature will only make such high level determinations about criteria.

Rep. Levy: If the tax expenditure is granted by statute how are you going to limit the economic activity?

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: We recommend a cap on the amount that will be given to ensure predictability in the budget.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: We could certainly see caps for discretionary tax expenditures. For planning purposes having a statement of anticipated revenue will enable judgments about what we can award.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: Annual reports will provide information to enable the Legislature to determine whether a tax expenditure needs to be adjusted.

Sen. Knapik: The film tax credit is an open check book; there's no limit. The Life Sciences tax credit we did because we thought we could afford it. Would the goal be to keep it somewhat open-ended or exact?

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: For a tax expenditure like the film tax credit, participants know that if they meet the criteria, they will get the tax credit. If there's some uncertainty whether they would get it, and there's a cap, that might have an impact because they don't know whether they'd get the tax credit.

Sen. Knapik: I think the Life Sciences Center slides the calendar to make sure they don't go over the \$25,000,000 budget.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: I think the distinction that we've tried to make here is that that tax credit doesn't occur by operation of law.

Chairman Jay Kaufman: Based on the conversation, is there a possible edit? It could read "an annual dollar cap on forgone revenue from grant-like tax expenditures," butdelete "and other tax expenditures may be appropriate," and add "for other tax expenditures, an estimate of forgone revenue."

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: I'm a little worried about the last part if the general consensus is that we shouldn't have a cap. The way it's written now suggests that might not be the case. Maybe we should strike the last clause?

Chairman Jay Kaufman: We might ask of tax expenditures that aren't grant-like, what are he anticipated costs and benefits? We might include that as a bullet here.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: We've included this by requiring the identification of the tax expenditures' purposes and outcomes and reviewing whether the tax expenditures achieve their purposes efficiently.

Suzanne Bump: I appreciate the Representative's concern that "other tax expenditures may be appropriate" be eliminated. It's not unreasonable that the Legislature will go on record as to what it anticipates the tax credit dollar amount to be and that it will take this information into account when deciding its criteria.

Jennifer Saubermann: Senator Brewer would support this change because we have talked about this.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: So where we are is adding conditions to the Legislative proposal; adding that anticipated forgone revenue is something that should be identified. In the last bullet, the opening clause will be "For grant-like tax expenditures," and then sub-bullets to cover public disclosure and transparency.

(The motion to approve these modifications unanimously passes.)

Chairman Jay Kaufman: The thoughtat the last meeting was to engage other states in New England and maybe nationally about tax expenditures because it is a race to the bottom; it seemed to me to make a lot of sense. We are certainly ahead of the pack in thinking about tax expenditures. Perhaps we should ask the Legislature and Governor to take a lead on this going forward.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: Is there any discussion on this matter?

(The motion to approve the last recommendation in written format passes unanimously.)

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: We have a perfect record. We have approved in substantial form eight recommendations to be included in our final report and haven't heard anyone suggest any other recommendations.

I'll discuss the process from here. We will distribute the draft report on all the commission's decisions thus far before our final meeting. My hope is that at that point everyone will have had a chance to review the draft report, propose edits, changes and concerns and that we could come to that next meeting to discuss the final draft with the hope that we could file the final report to meet the statutory deadline for this commission. I want to thank everyone for accommodating their busy schedules. Personally I feel very good about the recommendations we've developed. This commission has moved us forward in a thoughtful approach.

If there is no further discussion, then we are adjourned until April 23.

Tax Expenditure Commission Meeting Comptroller's Office April 23, 2012

### Attendees

Commission Members Jay Gonzalez, Secretary of Administration & Finance, Chair of Tax Expenditure Commission Suzanne Bump, State Auditor Al Gordon, Designee of Treasurer Steven Grossman Senator Katherine Clark, Senate Chair, Joint Committee on Revenue Representative Jay Kaufman, House Chair, Joint Committee on Revenue James Stock, Member of Governor's Council of Economic Advisors Senator Stephen Brewer, Chair of Senate Ways and Means Committee Representative Stephen Kulik, Vice Chair, House Ways and Means Committee, Designee of Chairman Brian Dempsey Alan Clayton-Matthews, Member of Governor's Council of Economic Advisors Sean Diamond, staff of Senator Michael Knapik, Designee of Senate Minority Leader Bruce Tarr Robert Maurice, staff of Representative Steven Levy, Designeeof House Minority Leader Bradley Jones

### **Minutes**

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: I'd like to call this meeting to order.

(The motion to approve the minutes from the previous meeting passes unanimously.)

Note that we have Representative Kulik joining us from the MassachusettsTurnpike pursuant to our remote participation policy. He's on the phone. Also note that Senator Knapik could not be present today. He'll be represented by Sean Diamond. Representative Levy will be represented by Bob Maurice. Al Gordon will represent treasurer Grossman who couldn't make it to today's meeting either.

Our only order of substantive business today is to vote on the final report which must be submitted to the Legislature by April 30. I'm proud to say that despite such mandates, many reports aren't submitted on time, but we have a high likelihood to submit ours on time. I'm proud of the commission to be able to do so. I have distributed a slightly edited version of the final report to reflect technical edits. I want to open up to further comment, so we can vote on the final version, and then file it on behalf of the commission.

Everyone note the wording change in the second paragraph of the first page in the executive summary. These changes reflect comments from some of you over the last week and

some technical changes from outside of the commission. The first change we made is on page one in the summary of final recommendations. (Secretary Gonzalez reads the suggested edit.) The next change is on page eighteen. Actually there's one on page fifteen which is the same wording change on page one. On page eighteen, in the recommendation about annual reports that CPAT should do on tax expenditures, the way it had been written was to collect data necessary based on metrics to evaluate tax expenditures. This is changed to show that data collection is limited to the last three items on the list, and others should just be included in the annual report, so we took those out and placed them in the fourth main bullet, which includes other data that should be in the annual report. (In recommendation number four, which instructs the Legislature to periodically review all tax expenditures based on CPAT reports, Secretary Gonzalez notes that the word "may" has been added before the phrase "take appropriate action.")

Under recommendation seven are the last changes relating to some recommended preconditions to approving new tax expenditures. The changes reflect a change in the order of the list of preconditions, with the goal of reordering the preconditions for any discretionary grant-like tax expenditures together in the bottom of the list. In the proposal for criteria for awarding discretionary tax expenditures, strike "the administering agency shall prescribe more specific and detailed criteria" because it's always the agency's job to do so.

Lastly, in the appendices, number thirteen, the Tax ExpenditureCommission principles,does not need to be placed in the appendix, because it is in the text of the report. Also, we reordered the appendices to be numbered and ordered to reflect the sequence they are referenced in the report, as they are now. These were all reviewed with the commission at various points. It's important to share this information with the Legislature and the public. Are there any comments or questions on this version?

Suzanne Bump: My only comments are about punctuation, formatting and consistency. For some of the listings on page fifteen onward, we lost some of our semicolons and colons.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: For technical edits like that, I'd suggest we approve this in substantial form and submit it to the Legislature, and I'd suggest technical edits be provided in the next few days. Is there a motion to approve the report in substantially the form presented, not take any further comments and submit it to the Legislature?

James Stock: I'm not sure whether this is a technical edit. At page twelve, the reference to "value added tax" should be "gross receipts tax." This has to do with treatment of exclusions from taxation of products that are inputs to productions. After discussion, the commission decided to use the "gross receipts" concept. This is the benchmark.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: Are there any questions for Jim on that point? Are there concerns about making that change?

James Stock: Also, in the next paragraph, where it states "general consensus among the Commission," it should read"gross receipts tax" after "more inclusive" and before "approach."

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: Are there any further questions? Is there a motion to approve the report in substantial form including the technical edits from Jim?

Senator Brewer: A lot of work went into this. I applaud A&F and Representative Kaufman;this has been part of his passion for a long time. This work is a template for the future -- a guiding set of principles. The report includes legislative flexibility. This is a very good first effort, and I would note that the Founders emphasized legislative flexibility.

Auditor Bump: I'm truly excited for the report's potential to achieve some goals I've articulated -- making sure tax expenditures are equitable and effective. I want to acknowledge that we created new standards and a framework for tax expenditures and planning for the future, and we did it in a bipartisan manner when tax policy can be a partisan issue. I'm very proud to have been a part of this.

Chairman Kaufman: I'm also excited. This is a wonderful new beginning for our new process. We are not going to correct history, but we are going to shape the future. We will be looking at these things with much more attention and critical eyes. We did an exceptional job finding common ground and ironing out differences in discussing what can be a political issue. I want to congratulate Secretary Gonzalez.

Secretary Jay Gonzalez: I think the chairman's point that we have a template is a good way to describe the product of our work -- it's an important roadmap. We need to be doing everything we possibly can to invest taxpayer dollars effectively. We have never done anything close to this – using data to achieve the purpose and the point of these tax expenditures and decide collectively through the legislative process for our policy makers to ensure tax dollars are being spent effectively. The public deserves that. This is a huge step forward -- it might be a roadmap for lots of states across the country. The fact that we are making recommendations, and if we havea unanimous vote on this report, sets a huge example that we carried out this process collaborativelyand that it wasn't a political process. I want to thank DOR; the amount of work they did to inform us for these discussions. I want to thank them for everything they have done to make the report possible and the work they will do.

(The motion to approve the report in its substantial form with James Stock's edits and to submit it to the Legislature passes unanimously.)

Thank you all for your great work. We are adjourned. We're going to have each member sign a page of the report, which is custom.